
CITY OF FRANKLIN 
PLAN COMMISSION MEETING* 

FRANKLIN CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
9229 W. LOOMIS ROAD, FRANKLIN, WISCONSIN 

AGENDA 
THURSDAY, JULY 22, 2021, 7:00 P.M. 

               
The YouTube channel “City of Franklin WI” will be live streaming the Plan Commission 

meeting so that the public will be able to watch and listen to the meeting.  
https://www.youtube.com/c/CityofFranklinWIGov.   

 
 

A.   Call to Order and Roll Call 
 

B.  Approval of Minutes 
 

 1. Approval of regular meeting of July 8, 2021. 
 

C. Public Hearing Business Matters (action may be taken on all matters following  
                                                                      the respective Public Hearing thereon) 

 
D. Business Matters (no Public Hearing is required upon the following matters; action may be   
                                           taken on all matters) 
 

1. MLG DEVELOPMENT, INC. LOT DIVISION FOR POTENTIAL 
FUTURE DEVELOPMENT.  Certified Survey Map application by MLG 
Development, Inc., to divide Lot 2 of Certified Survey Map No. 8546, located on 
the south side of West Oakwood Park Drive, into two new lots [the existing 
property has an area of approximately 7.66 acres, and is located in the Franklin 
Business Park, generally east of the intersection of West Oakwood Park Drive and 
South 52nd Street]; proposed Lot 1 would have an area of 2.63 acres and the new 
Lot 2 5.02 acres, the common lot line between the proposed lots would run along 
the existing 12 foot elevation change [the purpose of this application is to sell Lot 
1 to a third-party buyer who will develop this portion of the property], property 
zoned Planned Development District No. 18 (Franklin Business Park); Tax Key 
Number 930-1004-000. 

 
2. ANTHONY D. KRAUS AND ANNE T. KRAUS AGRICULTURAL 

EQUIPMENT STORAGE BUILDING CONSTRUCTION.  Site Plan 
application by Anthony D. Kraus and Anne T. Kraus, applicants and property 
owners, to allow for construction of a 72 foot wide by 40 foot high (2,880 square 
foot) metal paneled building (at the west side setback line of the property) to store 
agricultural equipment such as tractors, skid-loader, plow, cultivators, weed killer 
machines, hay wagons, etc., upon property located at 10233 West Oakwood Road, 
zoned A-1 Agricultural District; Tax Key No. 942-0004-000.   

 

https://www.youtube.com/c/CityofFranklinWIGov


Franklin Plan Commission Agenda 
7/22/21 
Page 2 

 
3. PROPOSAL TO CHANGE THE PUBLIC NOTICES TO PROPERTY OWNERS 

AND NOTICES TO THE MEDIA WITH REGARD TO ZONING AND LAND 
DIVISION AND LAND USE MATTERS APPLICATIONS ITEMS PURSUANT 
TO THE UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE, METHODS AND 
FORMATS PROCESS, TO IMPLEMENT A MORE ACCESSIBLE AND 
EFFICIENT PROCESS-FORMAT RECOMMENDATIONS. 

 
4. PARKLAND ACQUISITION STUDY INPUT SESSION. 

 
E. Adjournment 

 
*Supporting documentation and details of these agenda items are available at City hall during normal business hours. 
 
**Notice is given that a majority of the Common Council may attend this meeting to gather information about an agenda item over which they have 
decision-making responsibility.  This may constitute a meeting of the Common Council per State ex rel. Badke v. Greendale Village Board, even though the 
Common Council will not take formal action at this meeting. 
 
[Note: Upon reasonable notice, efforts will be made to accommodate the needs of disabled individuals through appropriate aids and services.  For additional 
information, contact the City Clerk’s office at (414) 425-7500.] 
 
REMINDERS: 
Next Regular Plan Commission Meeting: August 5, 2021  



Page 1                Plan Commission – Minutes 
                                July 8, 2021  

 City of Franklin unapproved  
 Plan Commission Meeting                            

July 8, 2021 
Minutes 

 
A. Call to Order and Roll Call Mayor Steve Olson called the July 8, 2021, regular Plan 

Commission meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. in the Council 
Chambers at Franklin City Hall, 9229 West Loomis Road, 
Franklin, Wisconsin.  
 
Present were Mayor Steve Olson, Commissioners Patricia 
Hogan and Kevin Haley,  City Engineer Glen Morrow and 
Alderman Mark Dandrea. Commissioners Adam Burckhardt 
and Patrick Leon were absent. Also present were City Attorney 
Jesse Wesolowski, Planning Manager Heath Eddy and 
Principal Planner Régulo Martínez-Montilva.  
 

B. Approval of Minutes 
 

 

1. Regular Meeting of June 17, 2021 
 
 
 
 
C. Public Hearing Business Matters 
 
1.    JAMES A. ROGOSIENSKI AND 
SANDRA D. ROGOSIENSKI 
SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENCE 
DETACHED GARAGE EXPANSION 
[recommendation to Board of Zoning 
and Building Appeals]. Application by 
James A. Rogosienski and Sandra D. 
Rogosienski for an Area Exception from 
Section 15-3.0801C.1. of the Unified 
Development Ordinance to allow for an 
864 square foot accessory structure, 
exceeding the 720 square feet maximum 
size by 20%, for property located at 3800 
West Acre Avenue [an existing dwelling 
totaling 1100 square feet and two 
existing detached accessory buildings are 
currently on the property, the first 
building is a detached 24 foot by 24 foot 
frame garage totaling 576 square feet 
and the second building is a detached 12 
foot by 20 foot frame accessory building 
totaling 240 square feet-proposal is to 
remove the 12 foot by 20 foot accessory 
building to provide clearance to expand 
the existing 24 foot by 24 foot garage to 
24 feet by 36 feet for a total of 864 

Alderman Dandrea moved and Commissioner Hogan  
seconded approval of the June 17, 2021 regular meeting 
minutes. On voice vote, all voted 'aye'. Motion carried (4-0-2).  
 
 
 
 
Principal Planner Régulo Martínez-Montilva presented the 
request by James A. Rogosienski and Sandra D. Rogosienski 
for an Area Exception from Section 15-3.0801C.1. of the 
Unified Development Ordinance to allow for an 864 square 
foot accessory structure, exceeding the 720 square feet 
maximum size by 20%, for property located at 3800 West 
Acre Avenue [an existing dwelling totaling 1100 square feet 
and two existing detached accessory buildings are currently 
on the property, the first building is a detached 24 foot by 24 
foot frame garage totaling 576 square feet and the second 
building is a detached 12 foot by 20 foot frame accessory 
building totaling 240 square feet-proposal is to remove the 12 
foot by 20 foot accessory building to provide clearance to 
expand the existing 24 foot by 24 foot garage to 24 feet by 36 
feet for a total of 864 square feet], property zoned R-3 
Suburban/Estate Single-Family Residence District; Tax Key 
No. 833-0065-000. 
 
The Official Notice of Public hearing was read in to the 
record by Planning Manager Heath Eddy  and the Public 
Hearing was opened at 7:03 p.m. and closed at 7:03 p.m. 
 
Alderman Dandrea moved and Commissioner Haley   
seconded a motion to recommend approval of an 
application for an Area Exception to allow for an 864 
square foot accessory structure [application requests an 



Page 2                Plan Commission – Minutes 
                                July 8, 2021  

square feet], property zoned R-3 
Suburban/Estate Single-Family 
Residence District; Tax Key No. 833-
0065-000. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
D. Business Matters 
 
1.     DETACHED ACCESSORY 
BUILDING ADDITION TO A 
CHILD CARE CENTER. Site Plan 
Amendment application by Christopher 
W. Colton, President of Ingenious Inc., 
for the addition of an approximately 880 
square foot (40 feet by 22 feet) detached 
accessory building to Ingenious Inc, a 
child care facility (proposed building 
would be located east of the existing 
parking lot and would be used for 
storage), property zoned B-3 Community 
Business District, located at 7260 South 
76th Street; Tax Key No. 756-9993-011. 
 
 
 
2.     BEAR DEVELOPMENT, LLC 
RECONFIGURATION OF THREE 
LOTS FOR POTENTIAL FUTURE 
CONDOMINIUM DEVELOPMENT. 
Certified Survey Map application by 
Stephen R. Mills, President of Bear 
Development, LLC (Boomtown, LLC, 
property owner), to reconfigure 3 
properties (Tax Key No. 891-9993-000, 
8.58 acres, 12000 West Loomis Road, 
with access to Ryan Road; Tax Key No. 
891-9996-000, 6.68 acres, generally 
between 12000 and 12204 West Loomis 
Road and Tax Key No. 891-9997-000, 
3.54 acres, 12204 West Loomis Road) to 
create 2 lots as follows: Lot 1 with 15.06 
acres north of Loomis Road and access 

Area Exception from Section 15-3.0801c.1. of the Unified 
Development Ordinance to exceed the 720 square feet 
maximum size by 20%] [an existing dwelling totaling 1100 
square feet and two existing detached accessory buildings 
are currently on the property, the first building is a 
detached 24 foot by 24 foot frame garage totaling 576 
square feet and the second building is a detached 12 foot 
by 20 foot frame accessory building totaling 240 square 
feet-proposal is to remove the 12 foot by 20 foot accessory 
building to provide clearance to expand the existing 24 
foot by 24 foot garage to 24 feet by 36 feet for a total of 
864 square feet], for property located at 3800 West Acre 
Avenue. On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’. Motion carried (4-0-
2). 
 
 
 
Principal Planner Régulo Martínez-Montilva presented a 
request by  Christopher W. Colton, President of Ingenious 
Inc., for the addition of an approximately 880 square foot (40 
feet by 22 feet) detached accessory building to Ingenious Inc, 
a child care facility (proposed building would be located east 
of the existing parking lot and would be used for storage), 
property zoned B-3 Community Business District, located at 
7260 South 76th Street; Tax Key No. 756-9993-011. 
 
Alderman Dandrea moved and Commissioner Hogan  
seconded a motion to adopt a Resolution amending the Site 
Plan for property located at 7260 South 76th Street to 
allow for a detached accessory building addition to 
Ingenious Inc., a child care facility (tax key no. 756-9993-
011). On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’. Motion carried (4-0-2). 
 
 
Principal Planner Régulo Martínez-Montilva presented a 
request by Stephen R. Mills, President of Bear Development, 
LLC (Boomtown, LLC, property owner), to reconfigure 3 
properties (Tax Key No. 891-9993-000, 8.58 acres, 12000 
West Loomis Road, with access to Ryan Road; Tax Key No. 
891-9996-000, 6.68 acres, generally between 12000 and 
12204 West Loomis Road and Tax Key No. 891-9997-000, 
3.54 acres, 12204 West Loomis Road) to create 2 lots as 
follows: Lot 1 with 15.06 acres north of Loomis Road and 
access to Ryan Road, and Lot 2 with 0.91 acres south of 
Loomis Road and access to West Loomis Court [a Concept 
Review was presented before the Common Council on April 
5, 2021, for the “Ryan Road Duplexes”, a two-family 
residential condominium development, with 26 units in 13 
two-family attached dwellings on the area designated as Lot 1 
in this Certified Survey Map]; properties located at 12000 
West Loomis Road and 12204 West Loomis Road, zoned R-8 



Page 3                Plan Commission – Minutes 
                                July 8, 2021  

to Ryan Road, and Lot 2 with 0.91 acres 
south of Loomis Road and access to 
West Loomis Court [a Concept Review 
was presented before the Common 
Council on April 5, 2021, for the “Ryan 
Road Duplexes”, a two-family 
residential condominium development, 
with 26 units in 13 two-family attached 
dwellings on the area designated as Lot 1 
in this Certified Survey Map]; properties 
located at 12000 West Loomis Road and 
12204 West Loomis Road, zoned R-8 
Multiple-Family Residence District and 
C-1 Conservancy District.  
 
 
3.     SIGN CODE INTERIM 
AMENDMENTS, CITY-WIDE 
(REVIEW OF STAFF’S 
PROPOSALS FOR MINOR 
AMENDMENTS TO CHAPTER 210 
OF THE MUNICIPAL CODE). 
 
 
 
 
Adjournment 
 

Multiple-Family Residence District and C-1 Conservancy 
District.  
 
Alderman Dandrea moved and Commissioner Hogan 
seconded a motion to recommend approval of a  
Resolution conditionally approving a 2 lot Certified  
Survey Map, being a part of the Southwest 1/4 and  
Northwest 1/4 of the Northwest 1/4 of Section 30,  
Township 5 North, Range 21 East, City of Franklin,  
Milwaukee County, Wisconsin (at 12000 West  
Loomis Road and 12204 West Loomis Road), subject to 
the additional language provided by the City Attorney 
relative to the recording. On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’; 
motion carried (4-0-2). 
 

 
Planning Manager Heath Eddy presented the sign code 
interim amendments, review of staff’s proposals for minor 
amendments to chapter 210 of the municipal code. 
 
Commissioner Haley moved and Commissioner Hogan 
seconded a motion to recommend to the Common Council the 
changes outlined in the staff memo and the ordinance attached 
to Common Council. On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’; motion 
carried (4-0-2). 
 
Commissioner Hogan moved and Alderman Dandrea 
seconded to adjourn the Plan Commission meeting of July 8, 
2021 at 7:26 p.m. On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’; motion 
carried. (4-0-2). 

  
 



      C I T Y  O F  F R A N K L I N       
REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION AND                                               

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY (CDA) 
 

Meeting of July 22, 2021 
 

Certified Survey Map 
 

RECOMMENDATION:  City Development Staff recommends approval of this Certified Survey 
Map (CSM) application submitted by MLG Development, Inc, subject to the conditions set forth 
in the draft resolution.   

Project Name:  MLG Development Certified Survey Map 
Project Location: Unassigned address, Tax Key Number 930-1004-000. 

Approximately 300 feet east of the intersection of 52nd 
Street and Oakwood Park Drive. 

Property Owner: MLG Development, Inc. 
Applicant: MLG Development, Inc. 
Agent: Joe Bukovich, MLG Capital 
Current Zoning: Planned Development District #18, Franklin Business Park 
2025 Comprehensive Plan: Commercial 
Applicant’s Action Requested: Recommendation of approval for this Certified Survey Map 
Planner: Régulo Martínez-Montilva, Principal Planner 

 
INTRODUCTION  
Certified Survey Map (CSM) application to divide Lot 2 of CSM No. 8546 into 2 new lots. The 
existing property has an area of approximately 7.66 acres and it is located in the Franklin 
Business Park (PDD No. 18), east of the intersection of West Oakwood Park Drive and South 
52nd Street. The proposed Lot 1 would have an area of 2.63 acres and the new Lot 2 5.02 acres, 
the common lot line between the proposed lots would run along the existing 12-foot elevation 
change. According to the applicant, the purpose of this CSM is to sell Lot 1 to a third-party buyer 
who will develop this portion of the property. 
 
PROJECT DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS 
Proposed lots 1 and 2 meet the minimum lot area requirement of 1 acre in the Planned 
Development District #18. Both lots would have access to W. Oakwood Park Drive, so no right-
of-way dedication is required for this CSM. The subject property is currently served by city 
water and sewer. 
 
Natural resources 
Per Natural Resource Protection Plan dated May 20, 2021, natural resources are present on site, 
specifically steep slopes, mature woodlands, four wetlands and a waterway. Most of these natural 
resources are located on lot 2, specifically wetlands W-1, W-2 and W-4. However, these 

Item D.1. 



 2 

wetlands have been deemed exempt from state wetlands regulations by the Department of 
Natural Resources (DNR), see Artificial Wetland Determination attached to this packet. The 
applicant is waiting for the jurisdictional determination from U.S. Army Corps of Engineers as of 
writing of this staff report. If these wetlands are deemed to be non-federal, natural resources 
protections standards of the Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) would not apply. The 
applicant shall submit the jurisdictional determination to the city before development of lots 1 
and 2 (condition #6), any wetland deemed to be federal would be subject to natural resource 
protection standards. 
 
Natural resources, such as shore buffers and mature woodlands would be protected by a 
conservation as depicted in sheet 3 of the CSM. This conservation easement does not include 
steep slopes, note that steep slopes could be impacted up to 40% for nonresidential development. 
 
Landscape bufferyard to the south 
Pursuant to UDO Section 15-5.0301.D, bufferyards are required to separate different zoning 
districts, this requirement applies to the south property line abutting properties zoned R-2 Estate 
Single-Family Residence District. A 30-foot bufferyard along the south property line is depicted 
in sheet 1 of the CSM. A landscape bufferyard easement is required to recorded concurrently 
with the CSM (condition #8). 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION  
Staff recommends approval of this Certified Survey Map subject to the conditions set forth in the 
draft resolution. 
 
Given this property is located in the Franklin Business Park (Planned Development District #18), 
this Certified Survey Map (CSM) is subject to Plan Commission and Community Development 
Authority (CDA) recommendation, the Common Council is the approving authority for CSM 
applications. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



STATE OF WISCONSIN             CITY OF FRANKLIN               MILWAUKEE COUNTY 
          RM [Draft 7-14-21] 

RESOLUTION NO. 2021-_____ 
 

A RESOLUTION CONDITIONALLY APPROVING A 2 LOT CERTIFIED SURVEY 
MAP, BEING A REDIVISION OF LOT 2 OF CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO. 8546 
BEING A REDIVISION OF OUTLOT 1, BLOCK 11 OF THE PLAT OF FRANKLIN 
BUSINESS PARK ADDITION NO. 1 AND BEING PART OF THE SOUTHWEST 

QUARTER (SW 1/4) AND SOUTHEAST QUARTER (SE 1/4) OF THE SOUTHEAST 
QUARTER (SE 1/4) OF SECTION 26, TOWN 5 NORTH, RANGE 21 EAST, CITY OF 

FRANKLIN, MILWAUKEE COUNTY, WISCONSIN 
(MLG DEVELOPMENT, INC.) 

(GENERALLY EAST OF THE INTERSECTION OF WEST OAKWOOD PARK DRIVE 
AND SOUTH 52ND STREET IN THE CITY OF FRANKLIN BUSINESS PARK) 

              
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Franklin, Wisconsin, having received an application for 
approval of a certified survey map, such map being a redivision of Lot 2 of Certified Survey 
Map No. 8546 being a redivision of Outlot 1, Block 11 of the Plat of Franklin Business Park 
Addition No. 1 and being part of the Southwest Quarter (SW 1/4) and Southeast Quarter (SE 
1/4) of the Southeast Quarter (SE 1/4) of Section 26, Town 5 North, Range 21 East, City of 
Franklin, Milwaukee County, Wisconsin, more specifically, of the property generally located 
east of the intersection of West Oakwood Park Drive and South 52nd Street in the City of 
Franklin Business Park (Planned Development District No. 18), bearing Tax Key No. 930-
1004-000, MLG Development, Inc., applicant; said certified survey map having been 
reviewed by the City Plan Commission and the Community Development Authority and the 
Plan Commission and the Community Development Authority having recommended 
approval thereof pursuant to certain conditions; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Common Council having reviewed such application and Plan 
Commission and Community Development Authority recommendation and the Common 
Council having determined that such proposed certified survey map is appropriate for 
approval pursuant to law upon certain conditions. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and Common Council of 
the City of Franklin, Wisconsin, that the Certified Survey Map submitted by MLG 
Development, Inc., as described above, be and the same is hereby approved, subject to the 
following conditions: 
 

1. That any and all objections made and corrections required by the City of Franklin, by 
Milwaukee County, and by any and all reviewing agencies, shall be satisfied and 
made by the applicant, prior to recording. 

 
2. That all land development and building construction permitted or resulting under this 

Resolution shall be subject to impact fees imposed pursuant to §92-9 of the Municipal  



MLG DEVELOPMENT, INC. – CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP 
RESOLUTION NO. 2021-_____ 
Page 2 

 
Code or development fees imposed pursuant to §15-5.0110 of the Unified 
Development Ordinance, both such provisions being applicable to the development 
and building permitted or resulting hereunder as it occurs from time to time, as such 
Code and Ordinance provisions may be amended from time to time.  

 
3. Each and any easement shown on the Certified Survey Map shall be the subject of 

separate written grant of easement instrument, in such form as provided within the 
City of Franklin Design Standards and Construction Specifications and such form 
and content as may otherwise be reasonably required by the City Engineer or 
designee to further and secure the purpose of the easement, and all being subject to 
the approval of the Common Council, prior to the recording of the Certified Survey 
Map. 

 
4. MLG Development, Inc., successors and assigns and any developer of the 2 lot 

certified survey map project shall pay to the City of Franklin the amount of all 
development compliance, inspection and review fees incurred by the City of Franklin, 
including fees of consults to the City of Franklin, for the 2 lot certified survey map 
project, within 30 days of invoice for same.  Any violation of this provision shall be a 
violation of the Unified Development Ordinance, and subject to §15-9.0502 thereof 
and §1-19 of the Municipal Code, the general penalties and remedies provisions, as 
amended from time to time. 

5. The approval granted hereunder is conditional upon MLG Development, Inc., and the 
2 lot certified survey map project for the property generally located east of the 
intersection of West Oakwood Park Drive and South 52nd Street: (i) being in 
compliance with all applicable governmental laws, statutes, rules, codes, orders and 
ordinances; and (ii) obtaining all other governmental approvals, permits, licenses and 
the like, required for and applicable to the project to be developed and as presented 
for this approval. 

6. The applicant must submit the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers jurisdictional 
determination to the Department of City Development when available or prior to any 
site plan approval for lots 1 and 2. If any wetland is deemed as a federal wetland, such 
wetland with associated buffer and setback must be protected by a conservation 
easement prior to any land disturbance activity. 

7. The Conservation Easement is subject to review by City staff, and approval by the 
Common Council, this easement must be recorded with the Milwaukee County 
Register of Deeds Office concurrently with recording of the Certified Survey Map. 

 



MLG DEVELOPMENT, INC. – CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP 
RESOLUTION NO. 2021-_____ 
Page 3 
 

8. The applicant must submit a landscape bufferyard easement for City staff review, 
Common Council approval, and recording with the Milwaukee County Register of 
Deeds Office concurrently with recording of the Certified Survey Map. 

9. The applicant must revise the second note in sheet 2 of the Certified Survey Map, 
“COA” should be replaced with “CDA”. 

10. The technical corrections noted by the Engineering Department in memorandum 
dated June 21, 2021, and Milwaukee County Register of Deeds in letter dated June 
14, 2021, must be addressed prior to recording of this Certified Survey Map. 

       BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Certified Survey Map, certified by owner, 
MLG Development, Inc., be and the same is hereby rejected without final approval and 
without any further action of the Common Council, if any one, or more than one of the above 
conditions is or are not met and satisfied within 180 days from the date of adoption of this 
Resolution. 
 
 BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED, that upon the satisfaction of the above conditions 
within 180 days of the date of adoption of this Resolution, same constituting final approval, 
and pursuant to all applicable statutes and ordinances and lawful requirements and 
 
procedures for the recording of a certified survey map, the City Clerk is hereby directed to 
obtain the recording of the Certified Survey Map, certified by owner, MLG Development, 
Inc., with the Office of the Register of Deeds for Milwaukee County. 
 
 Introduced at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of Franklin this 
_______ day of ____________________, 2021. 
 
 Passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of 
Franklin this _______ day of ____________________, 2021. 
 
       APPROVED: 
 
 
       _________________________________  
       Stephen R. Olson, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 

___________________________________       
Sandra L. Wesolowski, City Clerk 
 
AYES ______ NOES ______ ABSENT ______ 



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

TKN: 930 1004 000

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

S  
 52

ND
    

ST

S  OAKWOOD PARK  DR

PDD 

R-2 

R-2 

P-1 FW  

PDD 

C-1 
C-1 

FW  FC  

OAKWOOD                        RD   

N
2021 Aerial Photo

0 460 920230 Feet

Property

 



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

TKN: 930 1004 000

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

W                        OAKWOOD            PARK                          DR

S  
    

    
    

   5
2N

D 
    

    
    

    
ST

W                OAKWOOD              RD

W        OAKWOOD    PARK          DR  

W     OAKWOOD      RD

W    IRONWOOD    DR

S  
 52

ND
    

ST

S  OAKWOOD PARK  DR

OAKWOOD                        RD   

N
2021 Aerial Photo

0 460 920230 Feet

Property

 



1  

MEMORANDUM 
 
Date: June 22, 2021  
To: Joseph A. Bukovich. MLG Development, Inc. 
 
From: Régulo Martínez-Montilva, Principal Planner 
 City of Franklin, Department of City Development  
RE: Review comments for Certified Survey Map application,  
 Tax Key No. 930-1004-000 (Lot 2 of CSM 8546) 
  

 
 
Below are comments and recommendations for the Certified Survey Map (CSM) application submitted 
by MLG Development, Inc. on June 9, 2021.   

Department of City Development comments 

 
1. Conservation easement delineated on the CSM. The location of conservation easements shall 

be graphically indicated and clearly delineated and dimensioned on the face of the Certified 
Survey Map. The location and extent of conservation easements should be directly related to the 
Natural Resource Protection Plan per Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) Section 15-
7.0702.P. All protected natural resources on the proposed lots must be made part of a 
conservation easement, specifically the 75-foot shore buffer, mature woodlands and steep slopes 
(excluding man-made steep slopes). This boundary must be shown on the CSM, see example 
below: 
 

 
 



2  

2. Conservation easement document to be recorded separately. Per the UDO section noted 
above, in addition to graphic delineation of conservation easement areas, a conservation easement 
document must be filed with the Certified Survey Map or submitted for review as a condition of 
approval. Attached is the city’s conservation easement template. A graphic detail and table of the 
conservation easement area is required as exhibit, see example below: 

 

3. Landscape bufferyard. Pursuant to UDO Section 15-5.0301.D, bufferyards are required to 
separate different zoning districts, this requirement applies to the south property line abutting 
properties zoned R-2 Estate Single-Family Residence District. Given the presence of natural 
resources such as shore buffer, mature woodlands and steep slopes along the south property line. 
Staff suggests to include the 30-foot landscape bufferyard into the conservation easement 
indicated above (comments #1 and #2). 
 

4. Please add a note to the CSM stating that wetlands W-1, W-2, W-3 and W-4 have been deemed 
exempt from state wetlands regulations.  
 

5. Please submit a copy of the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers jurisdictional determination when 
available. Note that any wetland subject to federal regulations would be also subject to local 
natural resource protection standards set forth in the UDO Part 4 “Natural Resource Protection”, 
including the conservation easement requirement. 

6. Please revise the zoning information for Lot 2, it should be PDD-18 instead of  “BLK-11”. 

7. Per the Declaration of Protective Covenants for Franklin Business Park section 21 Right to Re-
Subdivide, a re-subdivision shall not be permitted without prior approval by the Association and 
the CDA. Has this CSM received approval from the Association Review Board? 

8. Please add middle name initial to the Mayor’s name, it should read Stephen R. Olson. 



3  

Engineering Department comments 
9. See separate letter. 

Note: Engineering comment #3 does not apply to exempt wetlands. 

Milwaukee County Register of Deeds comments 
10. See separate letter. 

Fire Department comments 
11. No comments 

Inspection Services Department comments 
12. Inspection Services has no comments on the proposal at this time. 

Police Department comments 
13. The PD has no comment regarding this request. 

 



Franklin Business Park 
Project Summary for Proposed CSM Dividing Lot 2 CSM 8546  

 
General Summary 
 
MLG Capital is proposing to divide Lot 2 of CSM 8546, located on the south side of W. 
Oakwood Park Drive in the Franklin Business Park, in order to sell a portion of the 
property to a third-party buyer who will construct a building to house a new business in 
Franklin.  Lot 2 is proposed to be divided into two new parcels containing 2.63 acres and 
5.03 acres which coincide with the two previously graded and relatively flat areas that are 
separated by a 12-foot elevation change.  The property will be served by municipal 
sanitary sewer and water and the entire property was previously rough graded during 
development of the Franklin Business Park. 
 
Natural Resources Protection Plan 
 
Stantec investigated the property for steep slopes, woodlands and forests, lakes and 
ponds, streams, shore buffers, floodplain and wetlands and prepared a Natural Resources 
Protection Plan report dated May 20, 2021 for the property.  The report identifies the 
following environmentally sensitive areas: 

1. Slopes greater than 10% are located in the swale along the western and southern 
property boundaries, the area between the two proposed lots and along the berm 
on the eastern edge of the property.   

2. Mature woodland areas were identified along the western and southern perimeter 
of the property.  The canopy trees in this woodland averaged approximately 13”-
15” in diameter at breast height. 

3. Four wetland communities and their associated buffers and setbacks were 
delineated within the property.  The wetland delineation information is contained 
in Stantec’s Assured Wetland Delineation Report dated May 18, 2021. 

4. A waterway was identified immediately adjacent to the western property line. 
 
Wetlands 
 
The NRPP and wetland delineation reports both state that the four delineated wetlands 
were most likely created by prior grading activities and the wetlands qualified for a WI 
DNR artificial wetland exemption and are likely not to be regulated by the USACE.  The 
Owner has applied for a USACE jurisdictional determination.  If a non-jurisdictional 
determination is received, the delineated wetland areas and associated buffers will no 
longer be regulated or required to be protected. 
 



DR
AF

T
N7

0°
05

'3
3"

E

12
8.

98
'

N00°32'47"W

N00°33'08"W
235.96'

S88°32'11"W
0.31'

  
  

25
29

.9
4'

  
  

C
2

C
1

70'

W
. O

AK
W

O
O

D
 P

AR
K 

D
R

IV
E

(7
0'

 R
O

W
)

WEST LINE OF THE SE 14 SEC. 26-5-21

SO
U

TH
 L

IN
E 

O
F 

TH
E 

SE
 1 4 S

EC
. 2

6-
5-

21

N00°33'08"W  2639.28'

N88°31'34"E
48.91'

N00°56'58"W                                   413.06'
S88°33'40"W

873.66'

15' UTILITY EASEMENT
DEDICATED ON PLAT
OF FRANKLIN BUSINESS
PARK ADD. NO. 1

70
'

56
1.

85
'

S8
8°

33
'4

0"
W

  2
64

9.
94

'

10
7.

78
'

13
0.

30
'

122.94'

PDD-18

PD
D

-1
8

PDD-18

PDD-18

25
'

50
' B

U
IL

D
IN

G

S01°26'20"E  455.14'

20' WIDE WATER MAIN
EASEMENT DEDICATED
TO CITY OF FRANKLIN
(PER CSM No. 8181)

R
-2

SE COR. SE 14  SEC. 26-5-21
CONC. MON. W/BRASS CAP
N: 319,362.09
E: 2,543,965.32

SW COR. SE 14
SEC. 26-5-21
CONC. MON.
W/BRASS CAP
N: 319,295.55
E: 2,541,316.37

S00°54'38"E  98.07'

S88°33'40"W  150.00'

N00°54'38"W
98.07'

S88°33'40"W
139.78'

53
7.

52
'

44
0.

00
'

25
5.

75
'

25' BUILDING SETBACK LINE

30
' B

U
FF

ER

LO
T 

1 
BL

O
C

K 
10

FR
AN

KL
IN

 B
U

SI
N

ES
S

PA
R

K 
AD

D
. N

O
. 1

O
W

N
ER

: H
-D

 F
R

AN
KL

IN
 L

LC

OUTLOT 2 BLOCK 5
FRANKLIN BUSINESS

PARK ADD. NO. 1
OWNER: MLG DEVELOPMENT INC

LOT 1 BLOCK 11
FRANKLIN BUSINESS

PARK ADD. NO. 1
OWNER: 5C INVESTMENTS LLC

LOT 1 CSM No. 8181
OWNER: BCM PROPERTIES

UNPLATTED LANDS
OWNER: NICHOLAS G & JUNE MAZOS

LOT 1 CSM No. 911
OWNER: ROBERTO O
& MARGARET BRUSS

U
N

PL
AT

TE
D

 L
AN

D
S

O
W

N
ER

: N
AN

C
Y 

P 
M

EI
N

ER
Z

U
N

PL
AT

TE
D

 L
AN

D
S

O
W

N
ER

: J
O

H
N

 F
 &

 W
 P

AT
R

EN
ET

S

LOT 2 BLOCK 5
FRANKLIN BUSINESS PARK

OWNER: MLG DEVELOPMENT INC

OUTLOT 1 BLOCK 5
FRANKLIN BUSINESS PARK

OWNER: COMMUNITY DEV AUTHORITY

PA
R

C
EL

 2
 C

SM
 N

o.
 8

45
2

O
W

N
ER

: H
-D

 F
R

AN
KL

IN
 L

LC
.

R
-2

PD
D

-1
8

15'

20
'

10
'

20' X 20' UTILITY EASEMENT
GRANTED TO LOT 1 CSM No. 8181
(PER CSM No. 8181)
(SEE DETAIL-A ON SHEET 2)

S01°26'20"E  440.73'

WET

WET

W
ET

WET

WET WET WET
WET WET

WET

W
ET

WET

WET

WET
WET

WET W
ET

WET
WET

WETWET

WET

WET

WET

WETWETWET
WET

WET

WET

WET

WETWET

361.54'

N00°32'47"W
177.14'

50'

50' BUILDING
SETBACK FROM
WETLAND

30' BUFFER
FROM
WETLAND

30'

75' SETBACK
FROM OHWM

75'

EXISTING
WETLAND
BASED ON 2021
MAPPING

EXISTING C/L WATER

N00°17'43"W  440.67'

26
4.

55
'

N
88

°3
1'

34
"E

  3
91

.2
2'

LOT 1 OF CSM 8546
248,291 S.F.
5.7000 AC.

S8
8°

   
33

'  
 4

0"
W

  8
02

.0
7'

LOT 2
218,945 S.F.
5.0263 AC.

POB

PDD-18

LOT 1
114,636 S.F.
2.6317 AC.

PDD-18

S8
8°

33
'4

0"
W

   
  7

01
.6

3'

2 11
121

W
ET

W
ET

SE
TB

AC
K 

LI
N

E

13
5.

47
'

W
ET

LA
N

D
 F

IE
LD

D
EL

IN
EA

TE
D

M
AY

 5
, 2

02
1 

BY
ST

AN
TE

C

25' BUILDING
SETBACK LINE

12
0.

00
'

WET

W
ET

W
ET

W
ET

W
ET

W
ET

W
ET

W
ET

W
ET

WET

WETWETWETWETWETWETWET

W
ET

W
ET

W
ET

W
ET WET WET

W
ET

W
ET

WET
WET

W
ET

W
ET

W
ET

W
ET

W
ET

W
ET

W
ET

WET

W
ET

W
ET

W
ET

WET

WET

W
ET

WET
W

ET

30'

50'

50
' B

U
IL

D
IN

G
SE

TB
AC

K 
FR

O
M

W
ET

LA
N

D

30
' B

U
FF

ER
FR

O
M

W
ET

LA
N

D

30'

EA
SE

M
EN

T

50
' B

U
IL

D
IN

G
SE

TB
AC

K 
FR

O
M

W
ET

LA
N

D
30

' B
U

FF
ER

FR
O

M
W

ET
LA

N
D

W-1

W-1

W-1

W-2

W-4

W-3

50
'

SURVEYOR:
JOHN R. STIGLER
JAHNKE AND JAHNKE ASSOC. INC.
711 W. MORELAND BLVD.
WAUKESHA, WI 53188

         Concrete Monument w/
         Brass cap (found)

   Iron pipe 18" x 1" dia. (placed)
         1.13 + lbs. per lin. ft.

SCALE IN FEET

0200' 200'

   Iron pipe found

         LEGEND:

OWNER:
MLG DEVELOPMENT INC.
19000 W. BLUEMOUND ROAD
BROOKFIELD, WI 53045

REFERENCE BEARING:
THE SOUTH LINE OF THE SE 14 SECTION OF
SECTION 26 T5N R21E WAS USED AS THE
REFERENCE BEARING AND HAS A BEARING
OF NORTH 88°33'40" EAST BASED ON THE
WISCONSIN STATE PLANE COORDINATE
SYSTEM (SOUTH ZONE).

Vicinity Map
Scale: 1" = 3000'

SEC. 26-5-21

26

NOTE:  PROPERTY IS SERVED BY
MUNICIPAL SANITARY SEWER AND WATER.

NOTE:  SEE PAGE 2 FOR EASEMENT AND
EXISTING TOPOGRAPHY DETAIL.

DATED THIS  7th  DAY OF  July , 2021
INSTRUMENT DRAFTED BY JOHN R. STIGLER

FILE NAME: 21-9366 CSM.DWG
P.S. MILWAUKEE 1692

C
U

R
VE

 T
AB

LE
C

U
R

VE
AR

C
R

AD
IU

S
C

H
O

R
D

BE
AR

IN
G

C
EN

 A
N

G
LE

D
EF

 A
N

G
LE

TA
N

 B
EA

R
IN

G
TA

N
 B

EA
R

IN
G

C
1

13
0.

30
'

40
5.

00
'

12
9.

74
'

N
79

°1
8'

33
.5

"E
18

°2
6'

01
"

9°
13

'0
.5

"
N

 7
0°

05
'3

3"
 E

N
 8

8°
31

'3
4"

 E
C

2
10

7.
78

'
33

5.
00

'
10

7.
31

'
N

79
°1

8'
33

.5
"E

18
°2

6'
01

"
9°

13
'0

.5
"

S 
70

°0
5'

33
" W

S 
88

°3
1'

34
" W

SOUTH 60TH STREET

W
ES

T 
R

YA
N

 R
O

AD
   

S.
T.

H
. "

10
0"

W
ES

T 
O

AK
W

O
O

D
 R

O
AD

PA
R

K 
D

R
W

ES
T 

O
AK

W
O

O
D

SOUTH OAKWOOD PARK DR

Sheet 1 of 5CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO._________
A redivision of Lot 2 of Certified Survey Map No 8546 being a redivision of Outlot 1, Block 11 of the Plat

of Franklin Business Park Addition No. 1 and being part of the Southwest Quarter (SW 1/4) and
Southeast Quarter (SE 1/4) of the Southeast Quarter (SE 1/4) of Section 26, Town 5 North, Range 21 East

CITY OF FRANKLIN, MILWAUKEE COUNTY, WISCONSIN

S-1820

ND

AL

WAUKESHA, WI

VRUS YE

RO

W
SNS OC

STIGLER
JOHN R.

I NI



DR
AF

T

N00°33'08"W
235.96'

S88°32'11"W
0.31'

  
  

25
29

.9
4'

  
  

70'

W
. O

AK
W

O
O

D
 P

AR
K 

D
R

IV
E

(7
0'

 R
O

W
)

WEST LINE OF THE SE 14 SEC. 26-5-21

SO
U

TH
 L

IN
E 

O
F 

TH
E 

SE
 1 4 S

EC
. 2

6-
5-

21

N00°33'08"W  2639.28'

N00°56'58"W                                   413.06'
S88°33'40"W

873.66'

70
'

S8
8°

33
'4

0"
W

  2
64

9.
94

'

SE COR. SE 14  SEC. 26-5-21
CONC. MON. W/BRASS CAP
N: 319,362.09
E: 2,543,965.32

SW COR. SE 14
SEC. 26-5-21
CONC. MON.
W/BRASS CAP
N: 319,295.55

S00°54'38"E  98.07'

S88°33'40"W  150.00'

N00°54'38"W
98.07'

S88°33'40"W
139.78'

701

705

71
0

710

715 715

71
5

716

717

71
8

718

72
0

719

719

747
745

745
741

742

741

740

740

740

738

735

735

73
5

734

733

732

73
0

730

730
725 725

72
5

719 720
720

72
0

WET

W
ET

WET

WET WET WET
WET WET

WET

W
ET

WET

WET

WET
WET

WET W
ET

WET
WET

WETWET

WET

WET

WET

WETWETWET
WET

WET

WET

N00°32'47"W
177.14'

2 11
121

12
0.

00
'

WET

W
ET

W
ET

W
ET

W
ET

W
ET

W
ET

W
ET

W
ET

WET

WETWETWETWETWETWETWET

W
ET

W
ET

W
ET

W
ET WET WET

W
ET

W
ET

WET
WET

W
ET

W
ET

W
ET

W
ET

W
ET

W
ET

W
ET

WET

W
ET

W
ET

W
ET

WET

WET

W
ET

WET

W
ET

W-1

W-1

W-1

W-2

W-4

W-3

C1

C2

C3

C4

C8

C9

C11
C13C14C16C18

C5
C6
C7

C10
C12C15C17C19

SCALE IN FEET

0200' 200'

Sheet 2 of 5

TOPOGRAPHY DETAIL

CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO._________
A redivision of Lot 2 of Certified Survey Map No 8546 being a redivision of Outlot 1, Block 11 of the Plat

of Franklin Business Park Addition No. 1 and being part of the Southwest Quarter (SW 1/4) and
Southeast Quarter (SE 1/4) of the Southeast Quarter (SE 1/4) of Section 26, Town 5 North, Range 21 East

CITY OF FRANKLIN, MILWAUKEE COUNTY, WISCONSIN

(TAKEN FROM MILWAUKEE COUNTY)

LOT 1 OF CSM 8546
248,291 S.F.
5.7000 AC.

LOT 1
114,636 S.F.
2.6317 AC.

LOT 2
218,945 S.F.
5.0263 AC.

701.63'
802.07'

361.54'

440.67'

440.73'

DATED THIS  7th  DAY OF  July , 2021
INSTRUMENT DRAFTED BY JOHN R. STIGLER

FILE NAME: 21-9366 CSM.DWG
P.S. MILWAUKEE 1692

OWNER:
MLG DEVELOPMENT INC.
19000 W. BLUEMOUND ROAD
BROOKFIELD, WI 53045

S-1820

ND

AL

WAUKESHA, WI

VRUS YE

RO

W
SNS OC

STIGLER
JOHN R.

I NI

NOTE:
WETLANDS W-1, W-2, W-3, AND
W-4 HAVE BEEN DEEMED
EXEMPT FROM STATE
WETLAND REGULATIONS

NOTE:
PER FRANKLIN BUSINESS PARK
SECTION 21 RIGHT TO
RE-SUBDIVIDE SHALL NOT BE
PERMITTED WITHOUT PRIOR
APPROVAL BY THE
ASSOCIATION AND THE COA.
APPLICANT SHALL DOCUMENT
SAID REVIEW APPROVAL.



70'

C1

C2

C3

C4

C8

C9

C11
C13C14C16C18

C5
C6
C7

C10
C12C15C17C19

Sheet 3 of 5

CONSERVATION EASEMENT DETAIL

CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO._________
A redivision of Lot 2 of Certified Survey Map No 8546 being a redivision of Outlot 1, Block 11 of the Plat

of Franklin Business Park Addition No. 1 and being part of the Southwest Quarter (SW 1/4) and
Southeast Quarter (SE 1/4) of the Southeast Quarter (SE 1/4) of Section 26, Town 5 North, Range 21 East

CITY OF FRANKLIN, MILWAUKEE COUNTY, WISCONSIN

DATED THIS  7th  DAY OF  July , 2021
INSTRUMENT DRAFTED BY JOHN R. STIGLER

FILE NAME: 21-9366 CSM.DWG
P.S. MILWAUKEE 1692

60' 60'0

SCALE IN FEET

S-1820

ND

AL

WAUKESHA, WI

VRUS YE

RO

W
SNS OC

STIGLER
JOHN R.

I NI

Curve Table

Curve # Arc Length Chord Length

C1 157.105 S88° 33' 40"W

C2 69.595

C3

C4 73.634

C5 23.303

C6 12.518

30.047

86.066

12.987

25.053

36.373

68.074

30.307

5.867

51.011

3.463

56.308

9.294

C8

C9

C10

C11

C12

C13

C14

C15

C16

C17

C18

C19

C7

Radius Chord Bearing

45.000

45.000

45.000

45.000

45.000

45.000

45.000

45.000

45.000

45.000

45.000

45.000

45.000

45.000

45.000

45.000

45.000

45.000

45.000

88.628

62.863

83.320

65.690

23.044

12.477

29.492

73.535

79.691

12.942

24.731

35.391

61.767

29.737

5.863

48.323

3.462

52.706

9.278

N42° 02' 46"W

106.477 S53° 36' 57"W

N44° 17' 27"W

N87° 13' 13"W

N77° 56' 13"W

S88° 24' 03"W

S42° 47' 58"W

N57° 04' 28"W

N76° 07' 12"W

N05° 29' 43"E

N37° 18' 33"W

N13° 25' 05"E

N03° 34' 36"W

N06° 41' 21"E

N00° 04' 19"E

N23° 30' 47"E

N03° 17' 05"W

N26° 02' 16"W

97.873

POB

DR
AF

T30.065

145.864

52.417

52.005

14.215

S8
8°

   
33

' 4
0"

 W



CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO._________ Sheet 4 of 5 
A redivision of Lot 2 of Certified Survey Map No 8546 being a redivision of Outlot 1, Block 11 of the Plat of 

Franklin Business Park Addition No. 1 and being part of the Southwest Quarter (SW ¼) and  
Southeast Quarter (SE ¼) of the Southeast Quarter (SE 1/4) of Section 26, Town 5 North, Range 21 East 

CITY OF FRANKLIN, MILWAUKEE COUNTY, WISCONSIN 

SURVEYOR'S CERTIFICATE: 
I, John R. Stigler, registered land surveyor, being duly sworn on oath, hereby depose and say that I have 

surveyed and mapped the following land bounded and described as follows: Outlot 1 of Certified Survey Map 
No. 8181 recorded on Reel 7181 as Document No. 9784108 and Map No. 8546 being a redivision of Outlot 1, 
Block 11 of the Plat of Franklin Business Park Addition No. 1 being part of the Southwest Quarter (SW ¼) and 
Southeast Quarter (SE ¼) of the Southeast Quarter (SE ¼) of Section 26, Town 5 North, Range 21 East and 
further described as; Commencing at the Southeast corner of the Southeast Quarter (SE ¼) of Section 26 being 
marked by a concrete monument with brass cap; thence South 88°33’40” West along the South line of said 
Southeast Quarter (SE ¼) 120.00 feet; thence North 00°56’58” West along a line of Lot 1, Block 11 of said Plat 
of Franklin Business Park Addition No. 1, 413.06 feet; thence South 88°33’40” West along the South line of 
said Lot 1, Block 11, 873.66 feet to the East line of Lot 1 of Certified Survey Map No. 8181; thence South 
00°54’38” East along said East line 98.07 feet; thence South 88°33’40” West along the South line of Certified 
Survey Map No. 8181, 150.00 feet; thence North 00°54’38” West 98.07 feet along the South line of said Map 
No. 8181; thence South 88°33’40” West along said South line 701.63 feet to the place of beginning of the lands 
hereinafter described; thence continuing South 88°33’40” West 802.07 feet along the South line of Lot 2 of 
Certified Survey Map No. 8546 to the West line of the Southeast Quarter (SE ¼) of Section 26, Town 5 North, 
Range 21 East; thence North 00°32’47” West 361.54 feet to the South right-of-way line of West Oakwood Park 
Drive; thence North 88°31’34” East along said South right-of-way line 48.91 feet; thence easterly 130.30 feet 
along said arc of a curve of radius 405.00 feet; curve center lies to the North, chord bears North 79°18’33.5” 
East 129.74 feet; thence North 70°05’33” East 128.98 feet; thence easterly 107.78 feet along the arc of a curve, 
curve center lies to the South, chord bear North 79°18’33.5” East 107.31 feet; thence North 88°31’34” East 
391.22 feet; thence South 01°26’20” East 440.73 feet to the place of beginning. 

Containing a net area of 333,581 square feet or 7.6579 acres of land. 

I further certify that I have made such survey, land division and map by the direction of the owners of 
said land; that such map is a correct representation of the exterior boundaries of the land surveyed and map 
thereof made; and that I fully complied with the provisions of Chapter 236 of the Wisconsin State Statutes 
pertaining to Certified Survey Maps (Section 236.34) and the unified development ordinance – division 15, of 
the City of Franklin in surveying, dividing and mapping the same. 

STATE OF WISCONSIN) ss 
WAUKESHA COUNTY) 
The above certificate subscribed and sworn to me this ______ day of _______________, 2021. 

My commission expires July 5, 2023. ______________________________________________ 
PETER A. MUEHL – NOTARY PUBLIC 

OWNER: MLG DEVELOPMENT, INC. 

This instrument was drafted by John R. Stigler P.S. Milwaukee 1692  



CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO.____________                         Sheet 5 of 5 
A redivision of Lot 2 of Certified Survey Map No 8546 being a redivision of Outlot 1, Block 11 of the Plat of 

Franklin Business Park Addition No. 1 and being part of the Southwest Quarter (SW ¼) and  
Southeast Quarter (SE ¼) of the Southeast Quarter (SE 1/4) of Section 26, Town 5 North, Range 21 East 

CITY OF FRANKLIN, MILWAUKEE COUNTY, WISCONSIN 

CORPORATE OWNER'S CERTIFICATE 
MLG DEVELOPMENT, INC., a corporation duly organized and existing under and by virtue of the 

laws of the State of Wisconsin, as owner, certifies that said corporation caused the land described on this map to 
be surveyed, divided, and mapped as represented on this map. 

MLG DEVELOPMENT, INC., does further certify that this map is required by S.236.10 or 236.12 to be 
submitted to the following for approval or objection: City of Franklin. 

WITNESS the hand and seal of MLG DEVELOPMENT, INC., has caused these presents to be signed 
by _________________________, its Vice President, and countersigned by _____________________, its 
Treasurer, this _____ day of _____________, 2021. 

MLG DEVELOPMENT, INC. 

________________________________________  
______________________ – VICE PRESIDENT 

________________________________________  
___________________________ - TREASURER 

STATE OF WISCONSIN) ss 
MILWAUKEE COUNTY) 

Personally came before me this _____ day of _________________, 2021, the above named 
__________________________, Vice President and ________________________, Treasurer, of the above 
named corporation, to me known as the person who executed the foregoing instrument, and to me known to be 
the Vice President and Treasurer of said corporation and acknowledged that they executed the foregoing 
instrument as such officer as the deed of the corporation, by its authority. 

_______________________________________________ 
Notary Public - __________________________________ 
State of Wisconsin
My commission expires___________________________ 

COMMON COUNCIL APPROVAL 
APPROVED by the Common Council of the City of Franklin on this ______ day of __________, 2021. 

__________________________________________ 
STEPHEN R. OLSON - MAYOR 

__________________________________________ 
SANDRA L. WESOLOWSKI – CITY CLERK 

OWNER: MLG DEVELOPMENT, INC. 

This instrument was drafted by John R. Stigler            P.S. Milwaukee 1692 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Natural Resource Protection Plan 

 
MLG Development  
Franklin Parcel 
City of Franklin, Milwaukee 
County, Wisconsin 
Stantec Project #: 193708336 
Lead Investigator: Sarah 
Majerus 
 

 
 
  

  
 

Prepared for: 
Joe A. Bukovich 
MLG Development 
19000 W Bluemound 
Road Brookfield, WI 
53045 

 
Prepared by: 
Stantec Consulting 
Services Inc. 12075 
Corporate Parkway, 
Suite 200 
Mequon, Wisconsin 53092 
Phone: (414) 218-4450 
Fax: (262) 241-4901 

 
 
 
 

May 20, 2021 



NATURAL RESOURCE PROTECTION PLAN 

MLG Development   
TABLE OF CONTENTS 
May 20, 2021 

 

 

 

Table of Contents 

1.0 INTRODUCTION .......................................................................................................... 1.1 

2.0 METHODS .....................................................................................................................2.1 
2.1 FEATURE DETERMINATIONS ......................................................................................... 2.1 
2.2 STEEP SLOPES ............................................................................................................... 2.1 
2.3 WOODLANDS AND FORESTS ...................................................................................... 2.1 
2.4 LAKES AND PONDS ..................................................................................................... 2.1 
2.5 STREAMS ...................................................................................................................... 2.2 
2.6 SHORE BUFFERS ........................................................................................................... 2.2 
2.7 FLOODPLAIN/FLOODWAY ......................................................................................... 2.2 
2.8 WETLANDS AND SHORELAND WETLANDS ................................................................. 2.2 
2.9 WETLAND BUFFERS ...................................................................................................... 2.2 
2.10 WETLAND SETBACKS ................................................................................................... 2.2 

3.0 RESULTS ........................................................................................................................3.1 
3.1 SITE DESCRIPTION ........................................................................................................ 3.1 
3.2 STEEP SLOPES ............................................................................................................... 3.1 
3.3 WOODLANDS AND FORESTS ...................................................................................... 3.1 
3.4 LAKES AND PONDS ..................................................................................................... 3.1 
3.5 STREAMS ...................................................................................................................... 3.1 
3.6 SHORE BUFFERS ........................................................................................................... 3.2 
3.7 FLOODPLAIN/FLOODWAY ......................................................................................... 3.2 
3.8 WETLANDS AND SHORELAND WETLANDS ................................................................. 3.2 
3.9 WETLAND BUFFERS ...................................................................................................... 3.2 
3.10 WETLAND SETBACKS ................................................................................................... 3.3 

4.0 CONCLUSION ..............................................................................................................4.1 

5.0 REFERENCES ......................................................................................................................5.1 

LIST OF TABLES 
Table 1 Summary of Wetlands Identified within the Property .............................................3.2 

 

LIST OF APPENDICES 

– FIGURES.......................................................................................................A.1 

– SITE PHOTOGRAPHS................................................................................... B.1 



NATURAL RESOURCE PROTECTION PLAN 

MLG Development 
INTRODUCTION 
May 20, 2021 

1.1 

 

 

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
 

Stantec Consulting Services Inc. (Stantec) performed an investigation of natural resources per the 
City of Franklin’s Unified Development Ordinance (UDO) for an approximately 7.66-acre parcel 
(the “Property”) on behalf of MLG Development (the “Client”). The Property is located in Section 
26, Township 15 North, Range 21 East, City of Franklin, Milwaukee County, Wisconsin. Specifically, 
the Property is located south of W. Oakwood Park Drive within the Franklin Industrial Park (Figure 
A). 

 
The purpose and objective of the investigation was to: 1) determine the type, location, and 
extent of natural resources within the Property; and 2) delineated the boundaries of each natural 
resource type present. Field work was completed by Sarah Majerus and Michaela Zuelke of 
Stantec on May 5, 2021. Sarah Majerus is an assured delineator qualified via the Wisconsin 
Department of Natural Resources (WDNR) Wetland Delineation Assurance Program (see 
Appendix A in Stantec’s Wetland Delineation Report for Delineator Qualifications).  Four wetland 
communities and an area of mature woodland were identified within the Property. 

 
The wetlands identified in this report may be subject to federal regulation under the jurisdiction of 
the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (USACE), state regulation under the jurisdiction of the Wisconsin 
Department of Natural Resources (WDNR), and local jurisdiction under the City of Franklin. The 
remaining natural resources are subject to the City of Franklin’s UDO. Stantec recommends 
Stantec’s wetland delineation report (provided as a separate report) be submitted to City 
planning staff, the WDNR, and USACE for final jurisdictional review and concurrence. 



NATURAL RESOURCE PROTECTION PLAN 

MLG Development  
 METHODS 
May 17, 2021 

2.1 

 

 

 

2.0 METHODS 
 
 

2.1 FEATURE DETERMINATIONS 

The following natural resource features were investigated for presence on the Property per 
Section 15-4.0102 of the UDO: Steep Slopes, Woodlands and Forests, Lakes and Ponds, Streams, 
Shore Buffers, Floodplain/Floodway, Wetlands and Shoreland Wetlands, Wetland Buffers, and 
Wetland Setbacks. 

 
2.2 STEEP SLOPES 

Steep slopes as defined in the UDO are greater than or equal to 10 percent. The protection 
standard varies for slopes steeper than 20 percent, and additionally for slopes steeper than 30 
percent. 

 
Contours available through the United States Digital Service / Natural Resource Conservation 
Service (USDS/NRCS) National Elevation Data 30 meter (NED) for Milwaukee County were 
obtained and slopes were identified using GIS, and calculated from the NED. 

 
2.3 WOODLANDS AND FORESTS 

The UDO defines woodlands and forests as either “Mature” or “Young”: 
 

Mature: An area or stand of trees whose total combined canopy covers an area of 
one (1) acre or more and at least fifty (50) percent of which is composed of 
canopies of trees having a diameter at breast height (DBH) of at least ten (10) 
inches; or any grove consisting of eight (8) or more individual trees having a DBH of 
at least twelve (12) inches whose combined canopies cover at least fifty (50) 
percent of the area encompassed by the grove. However, no trees planted and 
grown for commercial purposes should be considered a mature woodland. 

 
Young: An area or stand of trees whose total combined canopy covers an area of 
one-half (0.50) acre or more and at least fifty (50) percent of which is composed of 
canopies of trees having a diameter at breast height (DBH) of at least three (3) 
inches. However, no trees planted and grown for commercial purposes shall be 
considered a young woodland. 

 
Once determined as either young or mature based on the above definitions, the vertical plane 
of the outer drip-line of the exterior trees defines the edges of the woodland. All tree greater 
than eight inches in diameter are to marked in the field. 

 

2.4 LAKES AND PONDS 

Determinations of navigability and jurisdiction of waterbodies such as lakes or ponds, was beyond 
the scope of the investigation. However, if observed, waterbodies and/or other connections to 
off-site wetland or aquatic features that may be under federal or state authority were identified. 



NATURAL RESOURCE PROTECTION PLAN 

MLG Development 
 METHODS 
May 20, 2021 

2.2 

 

 

 

2.5 STREAMS 

Determinations of navigability and jurisdiction of waterways such as rivers, streams, and ditches, 
was beyond the scope of the investigation. However, if observed, waterways and/or other 
connections to off-site wetland or aquatic features that may be under federal or state authority 
were identified. 

 
2.6 SHORE BUFFERS 

The UDO defines shore buffers as: All of that land area located within seventy-five (75) feet 
landward of the ordinary high water mark (OHWM) of all ponds, streams, lakes, and navigable 
waters (as determined by the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources) and parallel to that 
ordinary high water mark, which is to remain undisturbed as a Natural Resource Feature 
(including undisturbed natural vegetation). Shore buffers do not include any area of land 
adjacent to any stream enclosed within a drainage structure, such as a pipe or culvert. The area 
of shore buffers (in square feet and acres) shall be measured and graphically delineated on the 
“Natural Resource Protection Plan.” A shore buffer is also a setback. 

 
2.7 FLOODPLAIN/FLOODWAY 

Floodplain boundaries were identified based on the Federal Emergency Management Agency 
(FEMA) Flood Hazard Zone Mapping per the Flood Insurance Rate Map for the City of Franklin, 
obtained from FEMA.  

 
2.8 WETLANDS AND SHORELAND WETLANDS 

Wetland determinations and delineations on the Property were based on the methods described 
in Stantec’s “Wetland Delineation Report” (dated May 18, 2021). Wetlands identified and 
delineated on the Property are located primarily within areas mapped with non-hydric soils and 
appear to have formed in isolated depressions left on site after previous filling and grading 
activities.   

 
The uppermost wetland boundaries were surveyed with a Global Positioning System (GPS) 
capable of sub-meter accuracy and mapped using Geographical Information Systems (GIS) 
software. 

 

2.9 WETLAND BUFFERS 

The UDO defines the buffer for wetlands and shoreland wetlands as 30 feet out from the wetland 
boundary. 

 
2.10 WETLAND SETBACKS 

The UDO defines the setbacks for wetlands and shoreland wetlands as 50 feet out from the 
wetland boundary. This is also defined as 20 feet out from the wetland buffer. 



NATURAL RESOURCE PROTECTION PLAN 

MLG Development 
 METHODS 
May 20, 2021 

3.1 

 

 

 

3.0 RESULTS 
 
 

3.1 SITE DESCRIPTION 

The Property is comprised of two previously graded and relatively flat lots within the Franklin 
Industrial Park. The two lots are separated by a steep fill slope which creates a 12-foot elevation 
change within the middle of the Study Area.  The west portion of the Study Area is relatively flat 
exempt for a linear spoil pile that extends west to east.  Several small wetlands have formed in 
shallow depressions, which appear to have been created as a result of grading activities, 
throughout this area.  The east portion of the Study Area is also relatively flat and consists of 
recently graded soil material to the east and mown vegetation to the west.  One small 
depressional wetland was observed in the southeast corner.  Upland habitat along the perimeter 
of the Study area consists of mesic riparian woodland along an unnamed waterway located 
outside the west project boundary and fallow field with scattered trees and shrubs along the 
south project boundary.  Elevations range between approximately 700-742 feet mean sea level 
(msl) with the lowest part of the Property in the southwest corner and the highest elevation along 
the eastern Property boundary. Residential properties lie to the south and southwest, and 
commercial properties are present to the north, west, and east. 

 
3.2 STEEP SLOPES 

Areas identified through LiDAR GIS mapping as having slopes greater than ten percent include 
the swale along the western and southern Property boundaries, a steep grade changed in the 
central portion of the Property, and the berm located at the eastern edge of the Property. Slopes 
greater than ten percent on the Property total 0.47-acres. Contours are depicted on Figure B in 
Appendix A and Figure 5 of Stantec’s Wetland Delineation Report. 

 

3.3 WOODLANDS AND FORESTS 

Mature, mesic riparian woodland areas were identified along the western and southern 
perimeter of the Property (Figure B, Appendix A). The canopy trees in this woodland averaged 
approximately 13-15 inches in diameter at breast height (DBH). The portions of mature woodlands 
on the Property total 0.94-acres, and the tree canopy is dominated by box elder (Acer negundo, 
FAC), American basswood (Tilia americana, FACU), and eastern black walnut (Juglans nigra, 
FACU). Other woody species (smaller than eight-inch diameter at breast height) observed in 
these woodlands included burr oak (Quercus macrocarpa, FAC), American elm (Ulmus 
americana, FACW), and downy hawthorn (Crataegus mollis, FAC). Mature trees and the 
woodland buffer are shown on Figure 2 and representative photographs are included in 
Appendix B. 

 
3.4 LAKES AND PONDS 

There are no lakes or ponds located on the Property. 

 
 



NATURAL RESOURCE PROTECTION PLAN 

MLG Development 
 METHODS 
May 20, 2021 

3.1 

 

 

3.5 STREAMS 

No waterways were identified within the Property; however, an unnamed stream (WW-1, Figure 
B) was identified immediately adjacent to the west Property boundary. WW-1 is an unnamed 
tributary to the Root River, which is located about 0.5 miles south of the Property. The approximate 
location of the waterway, as identified by WDNR 24K Hydrography, is depicted on Figure B. 

 

3.6 SHORE BUFFERS 

A 75-foot shore buffer was generated based on the DNR 24K Hydrography centerline which aligns 
with field observations and topographic contours.  The shore buffer totals 0.23-acres and is shown 
on Figure 2 in Appendix B. 

 

3.7 FLOODPLAIN/FLOODWAY 

Per the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) map panel #55079C0226E, there 
are no areas of mapped floodplain and floodway associated with the unnamed waterway 
located adjacent to the western Property boundary.  

 

3.8 WETLANDS AND SHORELAND WETLANDS 

Four wetland communities were identified and delineated within the Property.  Details on the 
wetlands and how they were delineated may be viewed in Stantec’s Assured Wetland 
Delineation Report. The wetlands delineated by Stantec are summarized in Table 1 below. 

 
Table 1 Summary of Wetlands Identified within the Property 

 

Wetland Wetland Classification (WWI 
Type) 

Adjacent Surface 
Waters 

Acreage 
(in Property) 

Wetland 1 
(W1) 

Wet Meadow Isolated from 
adjacent surface 

waters 

 
0.48 

Wetland 2 
(W2) 

Wet Meadow Isolated from 
adjacent surface 

waters 

 
0.03  

Wetland 3 
(W3) 

Wet Meadow Isolated from 
adjacent surface 

waters 

 
0.01 

Wetland 4 
(W4) 

Wet Meadow Isolated from 
adjacent surface 

waters 

 
0.01 

  Total Acres 0.53 
 
 
 



NATURAL RESOURCE PROTECTION PLAN 

MLG Development 
 METHODS 
May 20, 2021 

3.1 

 

 

3.9 WETLAND BUFFERS 

Wetland buffers are depicted on Figure B, which are 30 feet out from the edges of all delineated 
wetlands and totals 1.61 acres. 

 

3.10 WETLAND SETBACKS 

Wetland setbacks are also depicted on Figure B, which are 20 feet further out from the edges of 
the wetland buffers. This is an additional 0.93 acres. 



NATURAL RESOURCE PROTECTION PLAN 

MLG Development 
CONCLUSION 
May 20, 2021 

4.1 

 

 

 

4.0 CONCLUSION 
 

 
Stantec identified and delineated natural resources that must be protected and mitigated per 
the City of Franklin’s UDO on the Property on behalf of MLG Development. This work was 
completed based on the field work completed by Sarah Majerus and Michaela Zuelke of 
Stantec on May 5, 2021. 

 
The Property is comprised of previously graded lots within the Franklin Industrial Park.  Woodlands 
are located along the south and west perimeters, with one waterway identified immediately 
adjacent to the western Property boundary. The Property is approximately 7.66 acres in size and 
located in Section 26, Township 15 North, Range 21 East, City of Franklin, Milwaukee County, 
Wisconsin. Specifically, the Property is located south of W. Oakwood Park Drive within the Franklin 
Industrial Park (Figure A). The purpose and objective of the natural resource investigation was to 
identify the extent and spatial arrangement of natural resources as defined by the City of 
Franklin’s UDO within the Property. 

 
The following natural resources were identified and delineated on the Property: mature 
woodland, four wet meadow wetland communities, and their associated wetland buffers and 
setbacks. One waterway was identified immediately adjacent to the western Property boundary 
and the associated 75 ft. shore buffer extends onto the southwest corner of the Property. It is likely 
that the four delineated wetlands may qualify for a WDNR artificial wetland exemption and or not 
be regulated by the USACE. 

  
Prior to beginning work on the Property or disturbing or altering identified natural resources in any 
way, Stantec recommends that the owner obtain the necessary permits or other agency 
regulatory review and concurrence regarding the proposed work to comply with applicable 
regulations. Stantec can assist with identification and/or assessment of additional regulated 
resources at your request, to the extent that the work is within our range of expertise. 



NATURAL RESOURCE PROTECTION PLAN 

MLG Development 
 REFERENCES 
May 20, 2021 

5.1 

 

 

 
 

5.0 REFERENCES 
 

 
Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). Flood Insurance Rate Mapping (FIRM) 
floodplain mapping. City of Franklin, Milwaukee County, WI. 

 
USDS/NRCS – National Cartography & Geospatial Center. National Elevation Data 30 meter 
(NED), Milwaukee County, WI. 

 
United States Geological Survey (USGS). Wisconsin 7.5 Minute Series (Topographic) Maps. 
1:24,000. Reston, VA: United States Department of the Interior, USGS. 

 

WDNR, Division of Water. (2010). [24k hydrography geospatial data layer]. Available online: 
ftp://dnrftp01.wi.gov/geodata/hydro_24k/. 

ftp://dnrftp01.wi.gov/geodata/hydro_24k/


NATURAL RESOURCE PROTECTION PLAN 

MLG Development 
 Appendix A - Figures 
May 20, 2021 

A.1 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

– Figures 
 
 

 
Figure A. Project Location and Topography 

Figure B. Natural Resource Protection Plan 



ST100

ST241
ST36

ST38

Franklin
Oak Creek

Caledonia
RAYMOND

£¤45

Milwaukee

Racine

§̈¦41
MW Supplement

V:\
19

37
\Ac

tiv
e\1

93
70

83
36

\03
_d

ata
\gi

s_
ca

d\g
is\

mx
ds

\N
RP

P\f
igA

_to
po

_1
93

70
83

36
.m

xd
    

  R
ev

ise
d: 

20
21

-05
-19

 By
: a

sw
aim

A

193708336MLG Development
Franklin Parcel

T15N, R21E, S26
C. of Franklin, Milwaukee Co., WI

Prepared by AJS on 2021-05-29
TR by MP on 2021-05-29

IR by BL on 2021-05-19

Project Location and Topography
Page 1 of 1

Disclaimer: This document has been prepared based on information provided by others as cited in the Notes section. Stantec has not verified the accuracy and/or completeness of this information and shall not be responsible for any
errors or omissions which may be incorporated herein as a result. Stantec assumes no responsibility for data supplied in electronic format, and the recipient accepts full responsibility for verifying the accuracy and completeness of the
data.

Notes
1. Coordinate System: NAD 1983 StatePlane
Wisconsin South FIPS 4803 Feet
2. Data Sources: Stantec, SCO, WisDOT, WDNR
3. Background: USGS 7.5' Topographic
Quadrangles

Figure No.

Title

Project Location

Client/Project

Legend
Project Boundary (At original document size of 8.5x11)

1:24,000 ($$¯0 1,000 2,000
Feet

Project Boundary



ST100

ST241

Franklin Oak
Creek

RAYMOND

Milwaukee

Racine

§̈¦41

MW Supplement

W Oakwood Park Dr

732
730

728
726

724
722

720

738

736

734

718

71
4712710708

70
6704702700698696

718

716

710

704

708

704

70
6 70

2

742

738

720
718

748
742

692

708

706

728

694

736

732

720

720
720

720

720

720
71

4
69

2

736

720

720

720 720

720

720

720

V:\
19

37
\Ac

tiv
e\1

93
70

83
36

\03
_d

ata
\gi

s_
ca

d\g
is\

mx
ds

\N
RP

P\f
igB

_N
RP

P_
19

37
08

33
6.m

xd
    

  R
ev

ise
d: 

20
21

-05
-19

 By
: a

sw
aim

B

193708336MLG Development
Franklin Parcel

T15N, R21E, S26
C. of Franklin, Milwaukee Co., WI

Prepared by AJS on 2021-05-29
TR by MP on 2021-05-29

IR by BL on 2021-05-19

Natural Resources Proptection Plan
Page 1 of 1

Disclaimer: This document has been prepared based on information provided by others as cited in the Notes section. Stantec has not verified the accuracy and/or completeness of this information and shall not be responsible for any
errors or omissions which may be incorporated herein as a result. Stantec assumes no responsibility for data supplied in electronic format, and the recipient accepts full responsibility for verifying the accuracy and completeness of the
data.

Notes
1. Coordinate System: NAD 1983 StatePlane
Wisconsin South FIPS 4803 Feet
2. Data Sources: Stantec, Milwaukee Co, SCO,
WisDOT, WDNR
3. Orthophotography: NAIP 2018

Figure No.

Title

Project Location

Client/Project

Legend
Project Boundary
Field Delineated Wetlands
75ft Shore Buffer
30ft Wetland Setback
50ft Wetland Setback
Mature Woodland
Areas of slope equal or greater then
10 percent
2ft Elevation Contour

DNR 24k Hydrography
Perennial Stream*
Intermittent Stream
Waterbody*

(At original document size of 8.5x11)
1:1,800 ($$¯

0 75 150
Feet

*No features within data frame



B.1 

 

 

NATURAL RESOURCE PROTECTION PLAN 
 

MLG Development  
Appendix B– Site Photographs 
May 20, 2021 

 
 

Site Photographs 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Photographic Log

Page 1 of 8

Client: MLG Development Project: 193708336

Site Name: Franklin Parcel Site Location: Franklin, Wisconsin

Photograph ID: 1

Photo Location:
Eastern portion of Property

Direction:
North

Survey Date:
5/5/2021

Comments:
View of recently graded
area in eastern portion of
the Property

Photograph ID: 2

Photo Location:
Eastern portion of Property

Direction:
West

Survey Date:
5/5/2021

Comments:
Overview of W1 (right) and
W2 (left) from top of fill
slope



Photographic Log

Page 2 of 8

Client: MLG Development Project: 193708336

Site Name: Franklin Parcel Site Location: Franklin, Wisconsin

Photograph ID: 3

Photo Location:
Southeastern portion of
Property

Direction:
East

Survey Date:
5/5/2021

Comments:
View of southeast portion
of Property

Photograph ID: 4

Photo Location:
Southeastern portion of
Property

Direction:
North

Survey Date:
5/5/2021

Comments:
View of W1 and fill slope in
central portion of the
Property



Photographic Log

Page 3 of 8

Client: MLG Development Project: 193708336

Site Name: Franklin Parcel Site Location: Franklin, Wisconsin

Photograph ID: 5

Photo Location:
North central portion of
Property

Direction:
South

Survey Date:
5/5/2021

Comments:
Overview of W1 from W
Oakwood Park Drive

Photograph ID: 6

Photo Location:
North central portion of
Property

Direction:
Southeast

Survey Date:
5/5/2021

Comments:
View of northeast corner of
W1 in the north central
portion of the Property



Photographic Log

Page 4 of 8

Client: MLG Development Project: 193708336

Site Name: Franklin Parcel Site Location: Franklin, Wisconsin

Photograph ID: 7

Photo Location:
South central portion of
Property

Direction:
West

Survey Date:
5/5/2021

Comments:
Overview of W2

Photograph ID: 8

Photo Location:
Northwest corner of
Property

Direction:
East

Survey Date:
5/5/2021

Comments:
View of northern portion of
Property



Photographic Log

Page 5 of 8

Client: MLG Development Project: 193708336

Site Name: Franklin Parcel Site Location: Franklin, Wisconsin

Photograph ID: 9

Photo Location:
Southern boundary of
Property

Direction:
East

Survey Date:
5/5/2021

Comments:
View of southern boundary
of the Property from the
southwest corner

Photograph ID: 10

Photo Location:
Southwestern portion of
Property

Direction:
West

Survey Date:
5/5/2021

Comments:
View of southwestern
portion of Property



Photographic Log

Page 6 of 8

Client: MLG Development Project: 193708336

Site Name: Franklin Parcel Site Location: Franklin, Wisconsin

Photograph ID: 11

Photo Location:
Western boundary of
Property

Direction:
Southwest

Survey Date:
5/5/2021

Comments:
Average sized box elder
tree found within the
Property

Photograph ID: 12

Photo Location:
Western boundary of
Property

Direction:
South

Survey Date:
5/5/2021

Comments:
View of upland area within
mature wooded area along
western Property boundary



Photographic Log

Page 7 of 8

Client: MLG Development Project: 193708336

Site Name: Franklin Parcel Site Location: Franklin, Wisconsin

Photograph ID: 13

Photo Location:
Outside of western
boundary of Property

Direction:
Northwest

Survey Date:
5/5/2021

Comments:
View of waterway located
outside the west boundary
of the Property

Photograph ID: 14

Photo Location:
Outside of western
boundary of Property

Direction:
Southwest

Survey Date:
5/5/2021

Comments:
View of waterway located
outside the west boundary
of the Property



Photographic Log

Page 8 of 8

Client: MLG Development Project: 193708336

Site Name: Franklin Parcel Site Location: Franklin, Wisconsin

Photograph ID: 15

Photo Location:
Western portion of
Property

Direction:
East

Survey Date:
5/5/2021

Comments:
View of west end of W1
and tire tracks

Photograph ID: 16

Photo Location:
Northwestern corner of
Property

Direction:
South

Survey Date:
5/5/2021

Comments:
View of western portion of
Property







State of Wisconsin 
DEPARTMENT OF NATURAL RESOURCES 

1155 Pilgrim Rd. 

Plymouth, WI, 53073 

 

 

 

 

Tony Evers, Governor 

Preston D. Cole, Secretary 
Telephone 608-266-2621 

Toll Free 1-888-936-7463 

TTY Access via relay - 711 

 

 

June 16th, 2021  EXE-SE-2021-41-02101 
 
  
MLG Development Inc.  
Joe Bukovich                                                                                                                    
19000 W. Bluemound Road 
Brookfield, WI 53045 
 
RE:  Artificial Wetland Exemption Determination for an area described as Wetland 1, 2, 3, and 4 
located in the SW1/4 of the SE1/4 of Section 26, Township 05 North, Range 21 East, City of Franklin, 
Milwaukee County 
 
 
Dear Mr. Bukovich: 
 
This letter is in response to your request for an artificial wetland exemption determination for the above-
mentioned wetlands.    
 
According to 281.36 (4n), State Statutes, a landscape feature where hydrophytic vegetation may be 
present as a result of human modification to the landscape or hydrology and for which no definitive 
evidence exists showing a prior wetland or stream history before August 1, 1991, may be exempt from 
state wetland regulations.  The following types of artificial wetlands cannot be exempted from state 
wetland regulation:  
 

1) a wetland that serves as a fish spawning area or that is passage to a fish spawning area 
 

2) a wetland created as a result of a wetland mitigation requirement.   
 
In addition, DNR must also consider whether the artificial wetland is providing significant flood protection 
to adjacent or downstream properties and infrastructure, and/or significant water quality functions to 
adjacent or downstream water bodies.     
 
The Department reviewed the following materials to aid in our exemption determination:  

• The request narrative  

• Historic Maps, including the Original Land Survey Plat, Bordner Survey, USGS topographic Quad 
maps, and soil mapping.   

• Aerial photographs, including the 1937/8 era photograph, a pre-construction photograph, and a 
post-construction photograph.   

• Site photographs that show different angles and views of the wetland  

• Wetland delineation report 
 
Below is a summary of our findings:  
 
 
 



Request Narrative 
According to the request narrative, wetland 1 (0.48 acres), wetland 2 (0.03 acres), wetland 3 (0.01 acres), 
and wetland 4 (0.01 acres) are the focus of this artificial wetland exemption request. These wetlands are 
isolated fresh wet meadow depressions on a vacant lot in an existing business park. These areas are 
proposed to be disturbed for the construction of development in a business park. The requested wetlands 
were filled/graded during a mass grading event around 1996-1997, left vacant for some time, and 
graded/filled/excavated again around 2010. From 2010 to present day, the site remains vacant and has 
been allowed to revegetate, and wetlands areas can be clearly seen on aerial photos. Wetlands formed 
out of fill material or were the result of impounded water from this event. Wetlands are isolated, don’t 
exhibit persistent surface water, and are not anticipated to provide fish spawning habitat. The applicant 
indicated that future development would include stormwater management facilities as determined 
necessary by other state/local officials.  
 
Historic Map Review 

• Original Land Survey Plat.  The original land survey indicates a small stream in nearby. 

• Bordner Survey.  The Bordner survey is not applicable to Milwaukee county. 

• USGS Topographic Quad map:  The 1891 thru 1950 USGS Quad maps indicate no wetland or 
stream history. In 1960 and subsequent topo maps, a small stream is present nearby, and on the 
2013 Topo map, the business park has developed around the parcel.   

• The 1919 soils map indicate that there is a waterway near the parcel.  

• Soil Maps: The soil maps indicate that the area is mostly mapped in Ozaukee silt loam, 2-6% 
slopes that is a moderately well drained soil that is predominantly non-hydric, with hydric soil 
inclusions in certain landforms. The western side of the site is mapped in Blount silt loam, 1-3% 
slopes that is a somewhat poorly drained, predominantly non-hydric with hydric soil inclusions in 
depressions.  
 

Aerial Photograph Review 

• 1937/38 era aerial photograph.  The 1937/38 aerial photograph shows that there is a stream/ditch 
near the west side of the parcel-mostly offsite. The parcel is crop field with no distinct wetland 
signatures.  

• aerial photograph review:   
o The 1951-1995 era aerial photographs show the same conditions as the 37/38 photo, the area 

is a crop field without any distinct or consistent wetland signatures over that time. 
o The 1996-1997 era aerial photos show that the entire site had been filled/graded. Wetlands 

features are completely disturbed, and under graded fill material. 
o The 1998-2009 aerial photos show that the site is now vacant, allowed to revegetate.  
o The 2010 aerial photo shows that the majority of the site has been graded/filled/excavated 

again.  
o The 2011-present day aerial photos show that mass grading concludes around 2010, and the 

site remains vacant. It appears that wetlands have formed in these areas, as surface 
water/wetland signatures become more evident. The lot is left vacant until present day and the 
areas are left to naturalize. A building is constructed to the east around 2015, and additional 
grading occurs.  
 

Site Photographs, and LIDAR 
The site photographs show these areas are on a vacant, unmaintained lot in a business park setting, with 
berms and other man-made features. Contour mapping and LIDAR shows the extent of fill material from 
the filling/grading/excavation extent, which left berms and other manmade features.  
 
 



Conclusion:   

• Based upon the information provided above, the wetland identified as Wetland 1, 2, 3, and 4, 
lacked a wetland history prior to August 1, 1991, and fulfills all artificial wetland exemption 
standards.  Therefore, Wetlands 1, 2, 3, and 4 are exempt from state wetland regulations.  
Please see the attached figure for reference.  

 
This letter describes DNR’s decision regarding the jurisdictional status of Wetland 1, 2, 3, and 4 and is 
only valid for state jurisdictional purposes.  For decisions regarding the federal jurisdictional status of 
Wetland 1, 2, 3, and 4 you will need to contact the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers.   
 
If you have any questions about this determination, please contact me at (715) 492-0200 or email 
Ryan.Pappas@wisconsin.gov. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
Ryan Pappas 
Wetland Exemption Specialist 
 
cc: U.S. Army Corps of Engineers 
 Consultant 
 

 

 

 

 



 



 

Wetland areas 1, 2, 3, and 4 

were determined to be exempt 

from state wetland regulations.  



 1 

CONSERVATION  EASEMENT 

 

Lots 1 and 2, CSM _______, Franklin Business Park 

                                 

 This Conservation Easement is made by and between the City of Franklin, a municipal corporation of the State of 

Wisconsin, hereinafter referred to as “Grantee,” and _MLG Development, Inc.__, a _Wisconsin Corporation_, hereinafter 

referred to as “Grantor,” and shall become effective upon the recording of this Grant of Conservation Easement, together with 

the Acceptance following, with the Office of the Register of Deeds for Milwaukee County, pursuant to § 700.40(2)(b) of the 

Wisconsin Statutes. 

 

WITNESSETH 

 

WHEREAS, Grantor is the owner in fee simple of certain real property, located within the City of Franklin, 

Milwaukee County, Wisconsin, described in Exhibit A attached hereto and hereby made a part hereof (protected property); 

and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Grantor desires and intends that the natural elements and the ecological and aesthetic values of the 

protected property including, without limitation, the 75 foot Shoreland buffer and mature woodlands shown on the Natural 

Resources Protection Plan dated May 20, 2021 prepared by Stantec, which Plan is on file in the office of the City of Franklin 

Department of City Development, be preserved and maintained by the continuation of land use that will not interfere with or 

substantially disrupt the natural elements or the workings of natural systems; and 

 

 WHEREAS, Grantee is a “holder”, as contemplated by § 700.40(1)(b)1. of the Wisconsin Statutes, whose purposes 

include, while exercising regulatory authority granted to it, inter alia, under § 62.23 and § 236.45 of the Wisconsin Statutes, 

the conservation of land, natural areas, open space and water areas; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Grantor and Grantee, by the conveyance to the Grantee of the conservation easement on, over and 

across the protected property, desire to conserve the natural values thereof and prevent the use or development of the 

protected property for any purpose or in any manner inconsistent with the terms of this conservation easement; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Grantee is willing to accept this conservation easement subject to the reservations and to the 

covenants, terms, conditions and restrictions set out herein and imposed hereby; 

 

WHEREAS, there is no mortgage on the protected property. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Grantor, for and in consideration of the foregoing recitations and of the mutual covenants, 

terms, conditions, and restrictions subsequently contained, and as an absolute and unconditional dedication, does hereby grant 

and convey unto the Grantee a conservation easement in perpetuity on, over and across the protected property. 

 

Grantee’s rights hereunder shall consist solely of the following: 

1. To view the protected property in its natural, scenic, and open condition; 

2. To enforce by proceeding at law or in equity the covenants subsequently set forth, including, and in addition to all other 

enforcement proceedings, proceedings to obtain all penalties and remedies set forth under Division 15-9.0500 of the 

Unified Development Ordinance of the City of Franklin, as amended from time to time, any violation of the covenants 

subsequently set forth being and constituting a violation of such Unified Development Ordinance, as amended from time 

to time, or such local applicable ordinance as may be later adopted or in effect to enforce such covenants or the purposes 

for which they are made, it being agreed that there shall be no waiver or forfeiture of the Grantee’s right to insure 

compliance with the covenants and conditions of this grant by reason of any prior failure to act; and 

3. To enter the protected property at all reasonable times for the purpose of inspecting the protected property to determine if 

the Grantor is complying with the covenants and conditions of this grant. 

 

And in furtherance of the foregoing affirmative rights of the Grantee, the Grantor makes the following covenants which shall 

run with and bind the protected property in perpetuity, namely, that, on, over or across the protected property, the Grantor, 

without the prior consent of the Grantee, shall not: 

1. Construct or place buildings or any structure; 

2. Construct or make any improvements, unless, notwithstanding Covenant 1. above, the improvement is specifically and 

previously approved by the Common Council of the City of Franklin, upon the advice of such other persons, entities, and 



 2 

agencies as it may elect; such improvements as may be so approved being intended to enhance the resource value of the 

protected property to the environment or the public and including, but not limited to animal and bird feeding stations, 

park benches, the removal of animal blockage of natural drainage or other occurring blockage of natural drainage, and the 

like; 

3. Excavate, dredge, grade, mine, drill or change the topography of the land or its natural condition in any manner, 

including any cutting or removal of vegetation, except for the removal of dead or diseased trees; 

4. Conduct any filling, dumping, or depositing of any material whatsoever, including, but not limited to soil, yard waste or 

other landscape materials, ashes, garbage, or debris; 

5. Plant any vegetation not native to the protected property or not typical wetland vegetation; 

6. Operate snowmobiles, dune buggies, motorcycles, all-terrain vehicles or any other types of motorized vehicles. 

 

To have and to hold this conservation easement unto the Grantee forever.  Except as expressly limited herein, the Grantor 

reserves all rights as owner of the protected property, including, but not limited to, the right to use the protected property for 

all purposes not inconsistent with this grant.  Grantor shall be responsible for the payment of all general property taxes levied, 

assessed or accruing against the protected property pursuant to law. 

 

The covenants, terms, conditions and restrictions set forth in this grant shall be binding upon the Grantor and the Grantee and 

their respective agents, personal representatives, heirs, successors, and assigns, and shall constitute servitudes running with 

the protected property in perpetuity.  This grant may not be amended, except by a writing executed and delivered by Grantor 

and Grantee or their respective personal representatives, heirs, successors, and assigns.  Notices to the parties shall be 

personally delivered or mailed by U.S. Mail registered mail, return receipt requested, as follows:  

 

To Grantor: 

MLG Development, Inc. 

Attn:  Paul J. Hinkfuss 

19000 W. Bluemound Road 

Brookfield, WI 53045 

To Grantee: 

City of Franklin 

Office of the City Clerk 

9229 West Loomis Road 

Franklin, Wisconsin  53132 

 

In witness whereof, the Grantor has set his hand on this date of _________________________, 2021. 

 

MLG Development, Inc.  

 

 

By: _______________________________ 

      [Name and if applicable,Title] 

    

STATE OF WISCONSIN  ) 

    ) ss 

_____________  COUNTY  ) 

 

This instrument was acknowledged before me on the _______ day of ______________, 2021, by _____________________, 

as ___________________ of MLG Development, Inc., a __Wisconsin Corporation__, to me known to be the person who 

executed the foregoing conservation easement and acknowledged the same as the voluntary act and deed of said ___MLG 

Development, Inc. 

 

        _______________________________ 

        Notary Public 

 

      My commission expires _______________________ 

 



 3 

Acceptance 

 

The undersigned does hereby consent to and accepts the Conservation Easement granted and conveyed to it under and 

pursuant to the foregoing Grant of Conservation Easement.  In consideration of the making of such Grant Of Conservation 

Easement, the undersigned agrees that this acceptance shall be binding upon the undersigned and its successors and assigns 

and that the restrictions imposed upon the protected property may only be released or waived in writing by the Common 

Council of the City of Franklin, as contemplated by § 236.293 of the Wisconsin Statutes. 

 

In witness whereof, the undersigned has executed and delivered this acceptance on the ____ day of ____________, 20___. 

 

 

CITY OF FRANKLIN 

 

     By: _______________________________________ 

      Stephen R. Olson, Mayor 

 

     By: _______________________________________ 

      Sandra L. Wesolowski, City Clerk 

 

STATE OF WISCONSIN  ) 

    ) ss 

COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE ) 

 

 Personally came before me this _________ day of ___________________, 20__, the above named Stephen R. 

Olson, Mayor and Sandra L. Wesolowski, City Clerk, of the above named municipal corporation, City of Franklin, to me 

known to be such Mayor and City Clerk of said municipal corporation, and acknowledged that they executed the foregoing 

instrument as such officers as the Deed of said municipal corporation by its authority and pursuant to Resolution No. 

________, adopted by its Common Council on the ______ day of _________________, 20__. 

 

      _______________________________ 

        Notary Public 

 

      My commission expires _______________________ 

 

 

 

This instrument was drafted by the City of Franklin. 

 

Approved as to contents: 

 

____________________________       ________________________ 

Régulo Martínez-Montilva  Date 

Principal Planner  

Department of City Development 

 

Approved as to form only: 

 

____________________________       ________________________ 

Jesse A. Wesolowski Date 

City Attorney 

 

 

 



 4 

 Exhibit A 

Protected Property 

(See Attached) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



      C I T Y  O F  F R A N K L I N       
REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 

 
Meeting of July 22, 2021 

 

Site Plan 
 

RECOMMENDATION: Department of City Development staff recommends approval of this 
Site Plan to allow for an agricultural building. 

Project Name:  Kraus Site Plan, pole barn. 
General Project Location: 10233 W Oakwood Rd 
Property Owner: Kraus, Anthony D. and Anne T. 
Applicant: Kraus, Anthony D. and Anne T. 
Current Zoning: A-1 Agricultural District 
2025 Comprehensive Plan: Residential 
Use of Surrounding Properties: Agricultural and residential single-family. 
Applicant’s Action Requested: Approval of Site Plan to allow for an agricultural building. 
Planner: Régulo Martínez-Montilva, Principal Planner 

 

On September 17, 2020, the applicant submitted a Site Plan to allow for a building to store 
agricultural equipment such as tractors, skid-loader, plow, cultivators, weed killer machines, hay 
wagons, etc. The building size would be 72 by 40 feet with metal panels as primary exterior 
material.  
 
City Development staff informed the applicant on October 15, that a wetland delineation was 
required to determine compliance with 50-foot wetland setback. An approximate wetland 
delineation or sketch prepared by the Southeastern Wisconsin Regional Planning Commission 
(SEWRPC) was received in May 2021, the proposed building footprint is not close to any of the 
2 wetlands present on this property based on this sketch. 
 
The proposed agricultural building is a permitted use in the A-1 agricultural district and the 
building meets the A-1 setbacks and height limitations. The surrounding properties to the west, 
south and east are zoned agricultural as well. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
The Department of City Development staff recommends approval of this Site Plan request, 
subject to the conditions in the draft resolution. 
 

 

Item D.2 



STATE OF WISCONSIN             CITY OF FRANKLIN               MILWAUKEE COUNTY 
             PLAN COMMISSION    RM [Draft 7-14-21] 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 2021-____ 

 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SITE PLAN FOR  

CONSTRUCTION OF A STORAGE BUILDING  
(10233 WEST OAKWOOD ROAD) 

 (ANTHONY D. KRAUS AND ANNE T. KRAUS,  
APPLICANTS AND PROPERTY OWNERS) 

              
 

WHEREAS, Anthony D. Kraus and Anne T. Kraus having applied for approval of a 
proposed site plan for construction of a 72 foot wide by 40 foot high (2,880 square foot) 
metal paneled building (at the west side setback line of the property) to store agricultural 
equipment such as tractors, skid-loader, plow, cultivators, weed killer machines, hay wagons, 
etc., upon property located at 10233 West Oakwood Road; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the Plan Commission having reviewed such proposal and having found 
same to be in compliance with the applicable terms and provisions of §15-3.0421 of the 
Unified Development Ordinance and in furtherance of those express standards and purposes 
of a site plan review pursuant to Division 15-7.0100 of the Unified Development Ordinance. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Plan Commission of the City of 
Franklin, Wisconsin, that the Site Plan for the construction of a 72 foot wide by 40 foot high 
(2,880 square foot) metal paneled building (at the west side setback line of the property) to 
store agricultural equipment such as tractors, skid-loader, plow, cultivators, weed killer 
machines, hay wagons, etc., upon property located at 10233 West Oakwood Road, as 
depicted upon the plans date-stamped July 8, 2021, attached hereto and incorporated herein, 
is hereby approved, subject to the following terms and conditions: 
 

1. The property subject to the Site Plan shall be developed in substantial compliance 
with, and operated and maintained pursuant to the Site Plan for the Anthony D. Kraus 
and Anne T. Kraus storage building date-stamped July 8, 2021. 

2. Anthony D. Kraus and Anne T. Kraus, successors and assigns, and any developer of 
the Anthony D. Kraus and Anne T. Kraus storage building construction project, shall 
pay to the City of Franklin the amount of all development compliance, inspection and 
review fees incurred by the City of Franklin, including fees of consults to the City of 
Franklin, for the Anthony D. Kraus and Anne T. Kraus storage building construction 
project, within 30 days of invoice for same.  Any violation of this provision shall be a 
violation of the Unified Development Ordinance, and subject to §15-9.0502 thereof 
and §1-19 of the Municipal Code, the general penalties and remedies provisions, as 
amended from time to time. 



ANTHONY D. KRAUS AND ANNE T. KRAUS – SITE PLAN 
RESOLUTION NO. 2021-____ 
Page 2 
 

3. The approval granted hereunder is conditional upon the Anthony D. Kraus and Anne 
T. Kraus storage building construction project (i) being in compliance with all 
applicable governmental laws, statutes, rules, codes, orders and ordinances; and (ii) 
obtaining all other governmental approvals, permits, licenses and the like, required for 
and applicable to the project to be developed and as presented for this approval. 

4. That the Anthony D. Kraus and Anne T. Kraus storage building construction project 
shall be developed and constructed pursuant to such Site Plan within one year from 
the date of adoption of this Resolution, or this Resolution and all rights and approvals 
granted hereunder shall be null and void, without any further action by the City of 
Franklin. 

 Introduced at a regular meeting of the Plan Commission of the City of Franklin this 
_______ day of ____________________, 2021. 
 
 Passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the Plan Commission of the City of 
Franklin this _______ day of ____________________, 2021. 
 
       APPROVED: 
 
 
       _________________________________  
       Stephen R. Olson, Chairman 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________________       
Sandra L. Wesolowski, City Clerk 
 
AYES ______ NOES ______ ABSENT ______ 



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

10233 W. Oakwood Rd.
TKN: 942 0004 000

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

A-1 

P-1 

A-2 

A-2 

C-1 

R-2 

C-1 

OAKWOOD                        RD   

N
2021 Aerial Photo

0 310 620155 Feet

Property

 



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

10233 W. Oakwood Rd.
TKN: 942 0004 000

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

W             OAKWOOD               RD
OAKWOOD                        RD   

N
2021 Aerial Photo

0 310 620155 Feet

Property

 

























E
E

76
5

765

770

770

770

770

770

780

77
5

775

775

755

760

76
0

760

770

765

765

76
5

775

780

S3/E2K

S3/E2K

S3K

T3K

S3/E2K

Date of Photography: 2020
CA#405-396

Legend
Project Area
Isolated Natural Resource Area
Natural Area
Wetland WWI
Surface Water

E Flow Direction

Anthony and Anne Kraus Property
10233 West Oakwood Road

SW Quarter, Section 32, T5N-R21E
City of Franklin, Milwaukee County

0 75 150
Feet

Source: SEWRPC

p

Unnamed Tributary

West Oakwood Road

to Root River

Adams Prairie
NA-2

cjors
Rectangle

cjors
Text Box
Approximate Building Pad for New Barn

cjors
Line

cjors
Polygonal Line

cjors
Polygonal Line

cjors
Polygon

cjors
Polygonal Line

cjors
Typewritten Text
X

cjors
Text Box
Approximate extent of wetland per SEWRPC 5/24/21 site visit

cjors
Line

cjors
Line

cjors
Polygonal Line

cjors
Polygonal Line



  City of Franklin 
  Department of City Development 
 
MEMORANDUM 

Date: July 15, 2021 
To: Mayor Olson, Plan Commission Members 
From: Heath Eddy, AICP, Planning Manager 
RE: Public Notice Format Options  
 
At the meeting on June 17, 2021, the Plan Commission requested staff to prepare a set of examples of 
public notices that would be sent to adjacent property owners as required by State statute, and 
consistent with local requirements for notices.  
Staff has worked through and prepared a set of examples. We provide them in the following order: 

1. A modified version of the current notice, which removes the legal metes-and-bounds 
description from the notice but otherwise leaves the notice in the current format. 

2. A version that replicates an adjacent community’s notice format. 
3. A version that further modifies the notice format in #2, above, which is perhaps a bit easier for 

staff to implement.  
Staff has also prepared a version of a sign for posting properties. This is currently not required but it was 
suggested for discussion. This is included as the fourth exhibit. 
 
Finally, staff also discussed previously that the public notice that we send for publishing in South NOW is 
essentially the same as what we include in the mailed notice to adjacent property owners. We haven’t 
formulated a replacement for that, other than noting that the notice includes, at times, an overly 
complicated metes-and-bounds description (see the PDD-37 Ballpark Commons description, which isn’t 
really necessary since a PDD Major Amendment is intended to apply to the entire PDD-37).  
A further thought comes up. Staff read the public notice published for an Area Exception for James and 
Sandra Rogosienski. Reading the public notice is, at the very least, extremely confusing. It would be 
better to streamline the amount of discussion for a request such as this (though admittedly this 
particular application is complicated to distill). Still, staff notes that public notices for Special Use 
applications are often overly descriptive, in a way that doesn’t assist understanding, and is probably 
unnecessary for the purpose of providing basic information. We did prepare a newspaper notice as an 
example for discussion; this is attached.  



Department of City Development 
9229 West Loomis Road, Franklin, Wisconsin 53132 

(414) 425-4024 
 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING BEFORE 
THE CITY OF FRANKLIN PLAN COMMISSION  

 
MEETING DETAILS____________________________________________________ 
 
HEARING DATE: Thursday, April 8, 2021, at 7:00 p.m. 
PLACE: The Common Council Chambers at the Franklin City Hall, 9229 West Loomis Road, 
Franklin, Wisconsin 53132. 
 
PROPOSAL INFORMATION_____________________________________________ 
 
APPLICANT: Christopher D. Buday, River Rock Performance Properties, LLC. 
SUBJECT PROPERTY: 7095 S Ballpark Drive. (see map on reverse side)  
TAX KEY NUMBER: 744-1005-000 
 
PROPOSAL: An Ordinance to amend §15-3.0442 of the Unified Development Ordinance 
Planned Development District No. 37 (The Rock Sports Complex/Ballpark Commons), to 
increase the maximum permitted sign face area of approximately 750 square feet to 12,507 
square feet (distributed between 38 signs) for the indoor sports complex. 
 
CONTACT INFORMATION_____________________________________________ 
 
City of Franklin Planning Department / City Development  
(414) 425-4024 
www.franklinwi.gov/planning 
generalplanning@franklinwi.gov  
 
PUBLIC HEARING INFORMATION_______________________________________ 
 
This public hearing is being held pursuant to the requirements of §62.23(7)(d)2. of the 
Wisconsin Statutes and Division 15-9.0200 of the City of Franklin Unified Development 
Ordinance. The legal description of the subject property and proposed draft ordinance,  is 
available and open for inspection by the public in the office of the City Clerk at Franklin City 
Hall, 9229 West Loomis Road, Franklin, Wisconsin 53132, during normal business hours (8:30 
AM – 5:00 PM).   
 
The public is invited to attend the public hearing and to provide input.  The proposed draft 
ordinance is subject to revisions following public hearing and the further consideration by 
the Plan Commission and the City of Franklin Common Council. 
 
 
 

http://www.franklinwi.gov/planning
mailto:generalplanning@franklinwi.gov


Department of City Development 
9229 West Loomis Road, Franklin, Wisconsin 53132 

(414) 425-4024 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 
*TKN 7090129000 
 
 

NAN WOODS 
 
7481 PO BOX 320786 
FRANKLIN, WI  53132 



  EXHIBIT #2 

   PUBLIC HEARING NOTICE 
 

City of Franklin Plan Commission Public Hearing 
You are receiving this notice as a landowner or tenant of property that is located within 300 feet of a 
proposed development. A meeting before the City of Franklin Plan Commission will be held to discuss 
this proposal, and members of the public are welcome and encouraged to attend. Should you wish to 
speak on this topic, please feel free to register on the sign-in sheet prior to the start of the meeting. 
The Chair will invite you to approach the podium and provide your comments during the public 
comment period during the hearing. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Agendas are subject to change. While the City makes every effort to provide advanced notice of a postponed or 
cancelled meeting, it is recommended that agenda items and order are verified by visiting our website 24 hours 
prior to the meeting.  

Proposal Summary 
WHAT is being proposed? Amend Planning Development District No. 37 (The Rock Sports 
Complex/Ball Park Commons) to increase maximum permitted sign face area up to 12,507 sq.ft 
for the Indoor Sports Complex. 
WHERE is the proposal located? 7095 S. Ballpark Drive (TKN 744-1005-000) 
WHO is the Applicant? Christopher D. Buday, River Rock Performance Properties, LLC 
Where can I find additional information? On the reverse side of this notice is a location map 
and/or graphic for the proposal, and contact information. Agendas, staff reports, maps, plans, 
and other proposal submissions are posted to the City’s website in advance of the meeting. 
 Meeting Details 

Date:  Thursday, April 8, 2021 

Time:  7:00 PM 

Location: Franklin City Hall – 9229 W. Loomis Road, Franklin WI 
  Common Council Chambers  

Public comment will only be available in person. 
The meeting will also be live streamed on the City of Franklin YouTube Page via 
http://youtube.com/c/CityofFranklinWIGov for those that wish to view the meeting. 

http://youtube.com/c/CityofFranklinWIGov


  EXHIBIT #2 

NOTIFICATION MAP - 7095 S Ballpark Drive                                                         

 

CONTACT & ADDITIONAL INFO          

City Development/Planning 
(414) 425-4024 
www.franklinwi.gov/planning 
GeneralPlanning@franklinwi.gov 
 
 

 
We will do our best to accommodate the needs of disabled individual through sign language interpreters or 
other auxiliary aids. Due to the difficulty in finding interpreters, requests should be made as far in advance 
as possible, preferably a minimum of 48 hours.  

For more info or to request this service, contact the City Clerk or ADA Coordinator at (414) 425-7500 or by 
mail: 9229 W. Loomis Road, Franklin WI 53132. 

http://www.franklinwi.gov/planning
mailto:GeneralPlanning@franklinwi.gov


  EXHIBIT #3 

                 PUBLIC HEARING NOTICE 
City of Franklin Plan Commission Public Hearing 

You are receiving this notice as a landowner or tenant of property that is located within 300 feet of a 
proposed development. A meeting before the City of Franklin Plan Commission will be held to discuss 
this proposal, and members of the public are welcome and encouraged to attend. Should you wish to 
speak on this topic, please feel free to register on the sign-in sheet prior to the start of the meeting. 
The Chair will invite you to approach the podium and provide your comments during the public 
comment period during the hearing.  
 

 
 
Agendas are subject to change. While the City makes every effort to provide advanced notice of a postponed or 
cancelled meeting, it is recommended that agenda items and order are verified by visiting our website 24 hours 
prior to the meeting.  

Proposal Summary 
 

WHAT is being proposed?  
Amend Planning Development District No. 37 (The 
Rock Sports Complex/Ball Park Commons) to 
increase maximum permitted sign face area up to 
12,507 sq.ft for the Indoor Sports Complex. 
 
WHERE is the proposal located?  
7095 S. Ballpark Drive (TKN 744-1005-000) 
 
WHO is the Applicant?  
Christopher D. Buday, River Rock Performance 
Properties, LLC 
 
Where can I find additional information?  
 
On the reverse side of this notice is a location map 
and/or graphic for the proposal, and contact 
information. Agendas, staff reports, maps, plans, 
and other proposal submissions are posted to the 
City’s website in advance of the meeting. 
 

Meeting Details 
Date:  Thursday, April 8, 2021 

Time:  7:00 PM 

Location: Franklin City Hall 
9229 W. Loomis Road, 
Franklin WI 
Common Council 
Chambers  

 
This meeting will be held in person 
only. 
The meeting will also be live 
streamed on the City of Franklin 
YouTube Page via 
http://youtube.com/c/CityofFrankli
nWIGov for those that wish to view 
the meeting digitally. Public 
comment is not available online.  

http://youtube.com/c/CityofFranklinWIGov
http://youtube.com/c/CityofFranklinWIGov


  EXHIBIT #3 
NOTIFICATION MAP - 7095 S Ballpark Drive                                                         

 

CONTACT & ADDITIONAL INFO          

City Development/Planning 
(414) 425-4024 
www.franklinwi.gov/planning 
GeneralPlanning@franklinwi.gov 
 
 
  

We will do our best to accommodate the needs of disabled individual through sign language interpreters or 
other auxiliary aids. Due to the difficulty in finding interpreters, requests should be made as far in advance 
as possible, preferably a minimum of 48 hours.  

For more info or to request this service, contact the City Clerk or ADA Coordinator at (414) 425-7500 or by 
mail: 9229 W. Loomis Road, Franklin WI 53132. 

http://www.franklinwi.gov/planning
mailto:GeneralPlanning@franklinwi.gov


 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 
ABOUT THIS PROPERTY 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPLICATION: ______________ 

FOR INFORMATION, CALL  

414-425-4024 
CITY OF FRANKLIN 
DEPARTMENT OF CITY DEVELOPMENT 

EXHIBIT #4 



                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           
NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING BEFORE 

THE PLAN COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF FRANKLIN 
 

HEARING DATE: Thursday, April 8, 2021, at 7:00 p.m. 
PLACE: The Common Council Chambers at the Franklin City Hall, 9229 West 
Loomis Road, Franklin, Wisconsin 53132. 
 
APPLICANT: Christopher D. Buday, River Rock Performance Properties, LLC. 
SUBJECT PROPERTY: 7095 S Ballpark Drive, Franklin, Wisconsin 53132. 
TAX KEY NUMBER: 744-1005-000 
 
PROPOSAL: AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND §15-3.0442 OF THE UNIFIED 
DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE PLANNED DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 37 
(THE ROCK SPORTS COMPLEX/BALLPARK COMMONS), TO INCREASE 
THE MAXIMUM PERMITTED SIGN FACE AREA OF APPROXIMATELY 750 
SQUARE FEET TO 12,507 SQUARE FEET (DISTRIBUTED BETWEEN 38 
SIGNS) FOR THE INDOOR SPORTS COMPLEX. 
 
This public hearing is being held pursuant to the requirements of §62.23(7)(d)2. of the 
Wisconsin Statutes and Division 15-9.0200 of the City of Franklin Unified 
Development Ordinance. The legal description of the subject property and proposed 
draft ordinance,  is available and open for inspection by the public in the office of the 
City Clerk at Franklin City Hall, 9229 West Loomis Road, Franklin, Wisconsin 53132, 
during normal business hours (8:30 AM – 5:00 PM).  The public is invited to attend the 
public hearing and to provide input.  The proposed draft ordinance is subject to 
revisions following public hearing and the further consideration by the Plan 
Commission and the City of Franklin Common Council. 
 
Any person(s) with question regarding this proposal may contact the Department of 
City Development at 414-425-4024.   
 
Dated this 16th day of March, 2021. 
 

Sandra L. Wesolowski  
City Clerk  

 
 
N.B. Class II  
 
Please publish: 3/24 and 3/31 



 

 

 

Item D.4. 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
Date: July 22, 2021 

 
To: Plan Commission 

 
From: Department of City Development 

 
RE: Vandewalle & Associates, Inc. Parkland Acquisition Study Input Session 

 
 

 
At the April 8, 2021 meeting, the Plan Commission reviewed an initial outline of Parkland Acquisition Study 
currently being developed by the Department of City Development, with assistance from planning firm 
Vandewalle & Associates. The final product of this work will be a Parkland Acquisition Strategy Report, based 
on the goals identified by the Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan and prioritized by stakeholders including 
Parks Commission, the Plan Commission and Common Council. The report will make recommendations as to 
options for the timing of purchases to appropriately use Park Impact Fees, provide estimates as to matching 
requirements, and include other information to assist in purchasing parkland. A copy of the 2030 CORP is 
available to council members from the Planning department upon request.  

Vandewalle and Associates will moderate an input session with the Plan Commission at the regular meeting on 
Thursday, July 22, 2021. Plan Commission feedback will be incorporated into the draft Parkland Acquisition 
Strategy Report. A copy of the draft report is provided here for review prior to this input session. 

Status 

The first of the additional stakeholder input sessions for this project was held at the March 8, 2021 meeting of 
the Parks Commission.  At that meeting, initial goals were identified to assist with prioritizing accumulated funds. 
At the May 10, 2021 Parks Commission meeting, Vandewalle and Associates presented a draft outline of the 
Study to the Parks Commission for their review and feedback. Jackie Mich of Vandewalle and Associates 
moderated a discussion of the draft, and solicited additional input which has been incorporated into this 
subsequent draft of the report.  The Parks Commission adopted a motion to send recommendation of the 
Parkland Acquisition Study to Plan Commission to purchase a parcel in southwest corner of the City for future 
use. Additional feedback from that session includes: 

• Concerns regarding balancing necessary maintenance of existing parks with the need to plan for future 
growth in the city and park facilities. 

• Concerns regarding the City’s ability to allocate necessary matching funds for impact fees.  
 

As part of their initial analysis, Vandewalle and Associates identified spending horizons for park impact fees: 
limits to how long the City may hold those fees without spending them. When the fees expire, they will need to 
be rebated.  This included an immediate need to spend those funds expiring at the end of 2022. Subsequently, 
staff has undertaken efforts to plan for how best to allocate those funds appropriately within the 2022 budget, 
which has been discussed at Parks Commission and incorporated into the Capital Improvement Planning currently 
underway. The draft Study therefore looks further into the future, to consider how to accomplish the goals of the 
CORP including possible acquisitions of larger parks, trails, and development of public lands to be donated to 
the City.  



 

 

 

Item D.4. 

  

After Plan Commission, the item will go to Common Council for input with a session moderated by Vandewalle 
and Associates, currently scheduled for August 17, 2021. Input from that session will then be incorporated into 
the final draft of the report, which will then be reviewed again by Parks Commission and the Plan Commission 
before returning to Common Council. 

Marion Ecks  

Associate Planner - Department of City Development 

 



 
 

Draft: July 2, 2021  1 

Franklin Parkland Acquisition Strategy  
Vandewalle & Associates 

Draft: July 2, 2021 
 
Introduction 
The City of Franklin is in need of a short-term and longer-term strategy to utilize its accumulated 
park impact fees. In 2021, the City of Franklin retained Vandewalle and Associates to prepare 
this Parkland Acquisition Strategy Report and foster a conversation about the City’s park impact 
fees. The purpose of this Parkland Acquisition Strategy is to document the factors and 
requirements that influence the spending of park impact fees, provide a schedule for the 
utilization of accumulated park impact fees, and to provide guidance on the utilization of future 
park impact fees to be collected in the future.  
 
Summary of Recommendations from the Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation 
Plan 2030 (CORP)  
The City of Franklin’s Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan: 2030 was last amended in 2014. 
The Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan (CORP) makes recommendations for future park and 
recreation needs, including generalized recommendations for parkland acquisition for the next ten 
years and beyond. The CORP contains the following relevant recommendations for parkland 
acquisition: 

• Provide a new Regional/Multi-Community Park in the Southwest quadrant of the City, in 
combination with the existing Franklin Savanna. Franklin Savanna is an undeveloped oak 
savanna owned by Milwaukee County and designated as a State Natural Area. 

• Recognizing that most neighborhoods are built out, there are limited options for new 
Neighborhood Parks in developed part of City. Work with the Franklin School District to 
provide active recreation at future school sites. 

• Provide five new Mini Parks of at least one acre each within developed areas of the City 
that cannot be served by a Neighborhood Park due to inadequate and/or insufficient 
vacant land being available.  

The CORP has been incorporated by reference into the City of Franklin’s Comprehensive Master 
Plan. 
 
Goals for Parkland Acquisition  
The Parks Commission identified the following goals for parkland acquisition, based on CORP 
recommendations as well as known needs for the park system. 
 

A. Utilize accumulated park impact fees in order to offset the impact of development and 
provide adequate parkland for the City’s current and future population. 

 
B. Utilize park impact fees to acquire land for a Neighborhood Park or Community Park of 

20 acres or more. This would fulfill the City’s need for additional parkland in the 
southwest portion of the City, where future residential growth is planned. A park of this 
size is desirable, because it could accommodate a wide range of recreation uses, and 
because it is more cost effective to maintain than several Mini Parks. 

• The new park should provide a space for special events, as the City currently does 
not have many open areas suitable for large public or private events and 
festivals. 



 
 

Draft: July 2, 2021  2 

• The new park should serve multiple purposes, including a mix of passive and active 
recreation uses. The park should include large open areas that can be repurposed 
as needed, including for special events and for field sports (e.g., soccer, football, 
lacrosse, ultimate, rugby, etc.). Additionally, the park should include spaces for 
court-based sports (e.g., basketball, tennis, pickleball, volleyball, etc.). In areas not 
suitable for active recreation due to geographic or environmental constraints, 
passive recreation features (such as trails, natural areas, and seating areas) should 
be provided. 

• Combine new parkland with existing parks (such as Franklin Savanna) in order to 
maximize the size of the park. If the combined park area were to be 100 acres or 
more, the park could be classified as a Regional/Multi-Community Park, as 
defined by the CORP.  

• Combine new parkland with the Waste Management Conservation Easement 
reflects another opportunity to maximize the size of a new park. 

• Develop the park over a period of time as needs evolve and funds become 
available. 

 
C. Utilize park impact fees to connect existing and future parks and open space with trails. 

Develop trail connections between parks in as many locations as feasible. 
• Connect the 116th Street Trail to Franklin Savanna along Ryan Creek and onward 

to the Oak Leaf Trail. 
• Explore other potential trail connection options. 

 
D. Add desired facilities to the park system, including a dog amenities, pickleball (8+ courts), 

and an ice skating rink. 
 
 
Parkland Acquisition Strategy 
The process for determining how best utilize park impact fees involve three main steps, with 
several sub-steps. It is an iterative process, meaning that it repeats or restarts as needed. 
Continual review of this process and updating of assumptions is important throughout. Refer to the 
graphic on page ___ for a summary of this process. 
 
Step One: Fund Analysis 

1.) Review Existing Park Fee Collection/Expiration Schedule 
The park impact fee schedule will guide the overall project schedule to confirm 
appropriate collection and utilization of fees prior to the mandatory reversion deadlines.  
Utilization of funds will focus on two goals: 1.) identify all funds that are nearing the 
reversion deadline and develop a strategy for near-term use of funds for park 
improvements or small-scale acquisitions; 2.) identify funds that can be combined for use in 
larger-scale acquisitions. Development of a year-by-year summary of collection and 
expiration of funds will help determine overall cash flow and budgets for park acquisition.  
 

2.) Develop Plan for Utilization for Expiring Funds 
Utilization of funds with a near-term expiration date will be key to avoid reversion of 
funds due to the utilization requirement for impact fees.  These funds could be used for a 
large land acquisition or improvement of smaller projects within existing parks or small-
scale acquisitions within existing park deficient neighborhoods. 



 
 

Draft: July 2, 2021  3 

 
As plans to utilize impact fee funds are developed, determine match requirement and 
coordinate with the annual City budgeting process to ensure that matching funds are 
available when needed. The City’s match requirement is described on page ___. 
  

3.) Reserve Other Park Fees for Larger-Scale Acquisitions 
Park fees with later expiration dates can be targets for larger-scale acquisitions through 
accumulation over time.  These funds can form the base matching funds for grant 
applications and local matching requirements. 

 
Step Two: Project Concept and Partnerships 

1.) Develop Park Concept/Program 
The creation of a programmatic concept plan for a hypothetical Community Park will 
guide the property characteristics for future acquisitions.  This concept will focus on 
defining programmatic goals for the park along with environmental characteristics and 
acreage needs. Key questions and decision points include: Should the park be primarily 
for active recreation, passive recreation, or a combination of the two? What park facilities 
are desired (ballfields, playgrounds, structures, parking, etc.)? Approximately how many 
acres are needed to accommodate the desired park concept/program? 

 
2.) Leverage Grant and Partnership Opportunities 

The City should work to identify any complementary partnerships (Franklin School District, 
club sports, community agencies) along with local, state, and federal grant programs that 
could offer an opportunity to bring additional funds to a given project through matching 
grants or partnerships.  Grant funds or partner funds cannot be used to reduce the City’s 
required matching funds, but such funds can be used to increase the size or scope of a 
park project.  Additionally, the City’s funds and impact fees can be used as a match 
required by grant programs, so the City should explore opportunities for local, state, and 
federal grants that could be used to enhance desired park projects. For example, the 
Knowles-Nelson Stewardship grant program could be use considered to allow the City to 
acquire additional acres of natural area that it would not have had the ability to purchase 
with City fund and impact fees alone.  
 
Additionally, the City should maintain an ongoing dialogue with the Franklin School District 
on its plans and timelines for investing in recreational facilities. That way, both parties can 
identify opportunities to reduce redundancies and collaborate where possible. Other 
community agencies, public service organizations, and private clubs and leagues  that use 
or provide recreational facilities also have potential for collaboration with the City on 
future facilities. Such collaborations can maximize benefits for all partners. For example, 
the City of Sun Prairie and the Sun Prairie Area School District collaborated to design 
Creekside Elementary School, six-acre elementary school adjacent to a six-acre (city) 
neighborhood park containing shared recreational facilities. The two entities worked 
together in the design and implementation of the campus. 
 

Step Three: Property Acquisition and New Recreational Facility Installation 
1.) Investigate Property Opportunities in Southwest Quadrant 

Utilizing the park concept/program developed in Step Two as a basis for property 
targets within the Southwest quadrant, the City should begin a detailed property search to 



 
 

Draft: July 2, 2021  4 

align potential acreage, environmental conditions, and adjoining land uses. Specific tasks 
include: 

a. Identify parcel ownership patterns, acreages, and proximity opportunities 
b. Evaluate environmental constraints and planned land use 
c. Evaluate property assessments and market conditions (approximate price per 

acre) 
d. Identify potential target parcels that address the park concept/program and 

project goals 
e. Identify parcels currently listed as well as potential targets that are not listed for 

sale 
f. Research current land price trends, listings, and comparable sales 

 
2.) Begin Property Owner Outreach  

After evaluating a wide range potential properties, the City should identify a shorter list 
of potential target properties that best meet the City’s goals and concept plan. The City 
should then begin outreach to property owners to better understand availability and 
potential price requirements for the target properties. The City should consult legal counsel 
to determine the best approach for property owner outreach in accordance with state 
statues. After gaining a better understanding of land availability and potential price 
ranges, the City should identify the specific property or properties to target for 
acquisition. 
 

3.) Acquire Property 
While each property acquisition is different, the general steps for property acquisition 
involve negotiating a price, making a formal offer, preparing purchase documents with 
legal counsel. The City should consult legal counsel to determine the best approach for 
each of these steps, in accordance with Wis. Stat. 62.22(1) and other applicable laws. 
When purchasing parkland, the City should utilize park impact fees to the maximum extent 
possible, using expiring fees first. 
 

4.) New Recreational Facility Installation  
If the City has acquired parkland and is developing it, the City should adjust the 
programmatic concept plan developed in Step Two to fit the new property. If the City is 
adding a new recreational facility to an existing park, the City should determine a 
specific location for the new facility. In either situation, this step involves involve 
determining specific locations for new recreational facilities and making adjustments to the 
concepts in response to the actual conditions, limitations, and advantages of the site. 
 
Once this is determined, the City will need to develop detailed construction drawings for 
the new facilities. The next step is to construct the new facility or facilities, expending park 
impact fees and using expiring fees first. 
 

 
Approximate Value: 
Current range (4/15/21): $11,000-$55,000 per acre 
 
 

  



321F
U

N
D

A
N

A

LY
SIS

PROJEC
T

C
O

N
C

E
P

T

AND PARTNERSH
IP

S

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

ACQUISITION AND
N

E
W

REC
R

E
A

T
IO

N
A

L

FACILITY INSTA
LL

A
T

IO
N

F
A

N
A

LYL
SY

IS

PROJEC
T

T

AND PARTNERSH
IP

SS

AC ND
N

REC
R

A
L

FAFF
CILITY INSTATT

LL
A

T
A

IOO
NN$

City of Franklin
PARKLAND ACQUISITION STRATEGY 

Review Existing Park Fee
Collection/Expiration Schedule

Identify all funds that are nearing the reversion deadline.
Development of a year-by-year summary of collection
and expiration of funds will help determine overall cash
flow and budgets for park acquisition.

Develop Plan for Utilization for Expiring Funds

Utilization of funds with an expiration date within the next
year and half will be key to avoid reversion of funds due to
the utilization requirement for impact fees.  Determine
match requirement and coordinate with budgeting process.

Reserve Other Park Fees for Larger-Scale Acquisitions

Utilization of funds with an expiration date within the next
year and half will be key to avoid reversion of funds due to
the utilization requirement for impact fees.  Determine
match requirement and coordinate with budgeting process.

Develop Park Concept/Program for Future Park(s)

Develop a programmatic concept plan for a hypothetical future
park to define programmatic goals, desired environmental
characteristics, and acreage needs.  Consider: desire for active
and/ or passive recreation, desired park facilities (ballfields,
playgrounds, structures, parking, etc.) and conceptual acreage needs.

Leverage Matching and Partnership Opportunities

• Explore opportunities for local, state and federal matching
  fund programs  
• Identify local, regional, and state level partnership opportunities
• Coordinate with Franklin School District on school facility plans
  and timelines

Investigate Property Opportunities in
Southwest Quadrant

Using the park concept/program developed in Step
Two, begin a detailed property search to align
potential acreage, environmental conditions, and
adjoining land uses.

Begin Property Owner Outreach

Identify potential target properties and begin
outreach to determine availability and potential
price requirements. Determine which property
(or properties) to target for acquisition. 

Acquire Property

Negotiate a price and made a formal offer.
Expend park impact fees, using expiring fees first

New Recreational Facility Installation 

Design and construct new park facility (or facilities).
Expend park impact fees, using expiring fees first.



 
 

Draft: July 2, 2021  6 

Projects Eligible for Park Impact Fees and Required Matching Funds 
When a new home or subdivision is built, those residents will need additional public facilities or 
infrastructure, including parks. Impact fees allow for new residential developments to support their 
own future needs in the City, rather than asking current residents to pay entire cost of those 
facilities. Municipalities have the authority to impost impact fees on developers under Wis. Stat. 
66.55, in order to “to pay for the capital costs that are necessary to accommodate land 
development.” Per Wis. Stat. 66.55(1)(a), capital costs include “costs to construct, expand or 
improve public facilities, including the cost of land, and including legal, engineering and design 
costs,” but not the cost of equipment. In practice, this means that park impact fees can be spent for 
the following purposes: 

• Acquisition of land for parks to accommodate new population growth. Costs associated 
costs with land acquisition (acquisition studies, real estate transaction costs, etc.) 

• Park master planning and park design services 
• Park improvements, meaning the addition of new facilities within any park to 

accommodate new population growth. Improvements could include items such as tennis 
courts, dog amenities, splashpads, restrooms, fitness stations, etc. Park improvements 
include the expansion of park features but do not include maintenance or replacement of 
existing park features. 

 
As described above, park impact fees can be used only for park projects that accommodate new 
population growth associated with residential development. For this reason, most park projects 
are not eligible to be 100% funded by park impact fees. Therefore, expenditure of park impact 
fees almost always will require additional “matching funds” from the General Fund or other City 
financial resources in order to fund the full project cost.  
 
The City of Franklin Public Facilities Needs Assessment and Impact Fee Study (March 2020) 
describes the percent of any given park project that is eligible to be funded through impact fees. 
The percent varies by park classification (Community Park, Neighborhood Park, etc.). The 
following table, excerpted from the Impact Fee Study, provides the maximum percent and total 
dollar amount that may be funded by impact fees for previously planned projects. “Previously 
planned projects” refers to park projects that were generally conceived in the City’s 
Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan at the time the Impact Fee Study was completed.  As 
shown below, only 36% of total project costs for Community Parks and Special Parks can be 
covered by park impact fees, whereas, impact fees can make up a relatively higher percent of 
costs for Neighborhood Parks (47%), Mini Parks (43%), and Trails (62%).  

Figure 1: Costs Eligible for Impact Fees – Previously Planned Project (Impact Fee Study, 2020) 



Draft: July 2, 2021 7 

Figure 2 provides the maximum percent and total dollar amount that may be funded by impact 
fees for new projects, i.e., projects that are not included in the City’s Comprehensive Outdoor 
Recreation Plan.  As shown below, up to 100% of total project costs for new Mini Parks and 80% 
of total project costs for new Neighborhood Parks can be covered by park impact fees, whereas, 
Regional and Community Parks are not eligible for park impact fees.  

Figure 2: Costs Eligible for Impact Fees – New Projects (Impact Fee Study, 2020) 

The amount/percent of total project costs that are eligible for park fees varies significantly, and 
so this becomes a primary driver in the City’s near-term parkland acquisition strategy. Because 
the City wishes to spend over $1.2 million in park impact fees in a short amount of time, the best 
approach is to target park projects with a relatively high rate of impact fee eligibility (and 
therefore lower match requirement). Otherwise, the City will be in the challenging position of 
coming up with a large amount of matching funds in order to use the expiring park impact fees.  

Time Limits for Utilizing Impact Fees  
Wis. Stat. 66.55 requires that municipalities spend accumulated impact fees within a “reasonable 
period of time” or else they must be rebated to the current owner of the property. In 2015, the 
City of Franklin adopted an ordinance establishing a ten-year timeframe for using impact fees 
with the authority to extend the time limit by an additional three years if needed due to 
extenuating circumstances or hardship. In 2016, the City adopted Resolution 2016-7177, which 
utilized the three-year extension for fees collected after April 10, 2006 and established a 
deadline of December 31, 2022 for expenditure of these funds. It was determined that an 
extension was needed due to fact that the global economic recession created an extenuating 
circumstances that could be reasonably expected to create a hardship in meeting the 10-year 
time limit. There is no provision in City ordinance for further extensions, so the new deadline must 
be met. In 2020, the City of Franklin adopted an ordinance stating that impact fees collected 
after April 10, 2013 but prior to April 5, 2018 shall have a time limit of 10 years.  

Preliminary Timeline for Expenditure of Funds  
Scenarios for spending down the accumulated park impact fee fund balance have been provided 
below. The scenarios are provided for preliminary discussion purposes and achieve different 
levels of success in meeting the City’s goals.  The scenarios were developed based on the City’s 
park classifications (Community Park, Neighborhood Park, etc.), and reflect a range of possible 
outcomes for utilization of park impact fees. The scenarios are not driven by the amount of City 
match required, nor are they ranked or evaluated based on City budgetary impact. As the City 
discusses the various scenarios, it will become evident that some are more practical than others, 



Draft: July 2, 2021 8 

and several will likely be eliminated due to the significant amount of City match required. 
However, at this stage, this Report does not endorse any one scenario over another. 

Each scenario avoids rebating funds by utilizing accrued funds ahead of the monthly and yearly 
rebating deadline. Each scenario also reflects the short-term need to spend over $1.2 million in 
park impact fees by December 31, 2022 to avoid rebating the fees. All scenarios assume a land 
value of $40,000 per acre. This figure is a conservative estimate based on land values in spring 
of 2021. 

Direction from City officials is sought to identify a preferred scenario (or scenarios).  Since funds 
expire in the month they were collected, a spending schedule broken down by month can be 
developed once a desired scenario is selected. 

Figure 3 shows the amount of funds that will expire on or before December 31 of each year.  
When park impact fees are spent, the fund balances by year in Figure 3 will need to be updated 
to reflect funds spent. The City has been successful at spending older funds at risk of expiring first 
and tracking accordingly, and this practice should continue.  

Figure 3: Funds Expiring by Year 

(Need City Staff input on 2022 amounts to be used here and in scenarios.) 

*In 2016, the City of Franklin extended the time limit for accumulated impact fees through December
31, 2022. 

**No impact fees expire in 2023 due to the changes in time limits for park fee expenditures. Fees 
collected in 2016 and later are bound by the 8-year expenditure timeline. 

Cumulative
Year 

Collected
Term

2022 $1,204,889 $1,204,889 2010-2015 8-13 years*
2023 $0 $1,204,889 n/a** 8 years
2024 $209,983 $1,414,872 2016 8 years
2025 $66,591 $1,481,463 2017 8 years
2026 $869,037 $2,350,500 2018 8 years
2027 $948,902 $3,299,402 2019 8 years
2028 $259,254 $3,558,656 2020 8 years
Total $3,558,656

Funds Expiring 
By Year



Draft: July 2, 2021 9 

Figure 4: Scenario A 

• Utilize all funds on land acquisition and improvement of trails

Figure 5: Scenario B 

• Previously planned Community Park, Southwest quadrant
• Covers impact fees expiring through 2026
• Future projects needed to utilize remaining park fee balance
• Large match requirement ($4.2M)

Figure 6: Scenario C 

• Previously planned Community Park, Southwest quadrant – acquisition and improvements
• Covers impact fees expiring through 2026
• Future projects needed to utilize remaining park fee balance
• Large match requirement ($5.5M)

Park Type (Size) Activity
Total Project 

Cost
Impact Fee

Required 
City Match

100% 62% 38%

Trails
Land Acquisition & 
Trail Improvement 5,700,000$  3,534,000$      2,166,000$  
Total 5,700,000$ 3,534,000$      2,166,000$ 

Park Impact Fees Remaining: $24,656
(of $3.5M available as of March 2021)

Scenario A - Trails Only

Park Type (Size) Activity
Total Project 

Cost
Impact Fee

Required 
City Match

100% 36% 64%
Land Acquisition 3,200,000$  1,152,000$      2,048,000$  
Park Improvements 5,400,000$  1,944,000$      3,456,000$  
Total 8,600,000$ 3,096,000$      5,504,000$ 

Park Impact Fees Remaining: $462,656

Scenario C - Implement CORP with 80-Acre Community Park

Community Park 
(80 acres)

Park Type (Size) Activity
Total Project 

Cost
Impact Fee

Required 
City Match

100% 36% 64%
Land Acquisition 1,200,000$  432,000$        768,000$    
Park Improvements 5,400,000$  1,944,000$      3,456,000$  
Total 6,600,000$ 2,376,000$      4,224,000$ 

Park Impact Fees Remaining: $1,182,656

Scenario B - Implement CORP with 30-Acre Community Park

Community Park 
(30 acres)



 
 

Draft: July 2, 2021  10 

 
 

Figure 7: Scenario D 

• Utilize funds to improve Waste Management lands to be donated to the City  
• Future projects needed to utilize remaining park fee balance 
• Large match requirement ($3.4M) 

 
 

Figure 8: Scenario E 

• Previously planned Community Park, Southwest quadrant – acquisition only 
• Previously planned Trails – acquisition and/or improvement  
• Future projects needed to utilize remaining park fee balance 
 
 

Park Type (Size) Activity
Total Project 

Cost
Impact Fee

Required 
City Match

100% 36% 64%

Community Park, Waste 
Management Property 

(380.2 acres) Park Improvements 5,400,000$  1,944,000$      3,456,000$  
Total 5,400,000$ 1,944,000$      3,456,000$ 

Park Impact Fees Remaining: $1,614,656

Scenario D - Implement CORP by Improving Waste Management Property as Community Park

Park Type (Size) Activity
Total Project 

Cost
Impact Fee

Required 
City Match

100% 36% 64%
2,400,000$  864,000$        1,536,000$  
100% 62% 38%

3,000,000$  1,860,000$      1,140,000$  
Total 5,400,000$ 2,724,000$      2,676,000$ 

Park Impact Fees Remaining: $834,656

Community Park 
(60 acres) Land Acquisition

Trails
Land Acquisition & 
Trail Improvement

Scenario E - Implement CORP with 60-Acre Community Park and Trails



 
 

Draft: July 2, 2021  11 

Figure 9: Scenario F 

• Previously planned Community Park, Southwest quadrant – acquisition only (land bank for 
future improvement) 

• Add new facilities to existing Neighborhood Parks (new growth) 
 

 
Figure 10: Scenario G 

• New (not previously planned) Neighborhood Park, Southwest quadrant – acquisition and 
improvements 

• Future projects needed to utilize remaining park fee balance 
• Much smaller match requirement due to higher percentage eligible for impact fees 
 

Figure 11: Scenario H 

Park Type (Size) Activity
Total Project 

Cost
Impact Fee

Required 
City Match

100% 36% 64%
2,400,000$  864,000$        1,536,000$  

100% 80% 20%

3,350,000$  2,680,000$      670,000$    
Total 5,750,000$ 3,544,000$      2,206,000$ 

Park Impact Fees Remaining: $14,656

Scenario F - Implement CORP with 60-Acre Community Park & Improve a Neighborhood Park

Community Park 
(60 acres) Land Acquisition

Neighborhood Park, 
Existing or Previously 

Planned 

Park Improvements 
(Pickleball, Ice Rink, etc.)

Park Type (Size) Activity
Total Project 

Cost
Impact Fee

Required 
City Match

100% 80% 20%
Land Acquisition 1,000,000$  800,000$        200,000$    
Park Improvements 1,500,000$  1,200,000$      300,000$    
Total 2,500,000$ 2,000,000$      500,000$    

Park Impact Fees Remaining: $1,558,656

Scenario G - Diverge from CORP with 25-Acre Neighborhood Park

Neighborhood Park, 
Not Previously Planned  

(25 acres)

Park Type (Size) Activity
Total Project 

Cost
Impact Fee

Required 
City Match

100% 80% 20%

Land Acquisition 1,000,000$  800,000$        200,000$    

Park Improvements 1,500,000$  1,200,000$      300,000$    

100% 62% 38%

2,350,000$  1,457,000$      893,000$    

Total 4,850,000$ 3,457,000$      1,393,000$ 
Park Impact Fees Remaining: $101,656

Scenario H - Trails and Diverge from CORP with 25-Acre Neighborhood Park 

Neighborhood Park, 
Not Previously Planned  

(25 acres)

Trails
Land Acquisition & 
Trail Improvement



 
 

Draft: July 2, 2021  12 

• New (not previously planned) Neighborhood Park, Southwest quadrant – acquisition and 
improvements    

• Previously planned Trails – acquisition and/or improvement 
• Neighborhood Park match requirement of $500K; smaller total match requirement due to 

higher percentage eligible for impact fees 
 
 

Figure 12: Scenario I 

New (not previously planned) Neighborhood Park, Southwest quadrant – acquisition only (land 
bank for future improvement) 
• Add new facilities to existing Neighborhood Parks (new growth) 
• Previously planned Trails – acquisition and/or improvement 
• Neighborhood Park match requirement of $660K; smaller total match requirement due to 

higher percentage eligible for impact fees 
 

Figure 13: Scenario J 

 

Park Type (Size) Activity
Total Project 

Cost
Impact Fee

Required 
City Match

100% 80% 20%
Neighborhood Park, 

Not Previously Planned  
(25 acres) Land Acquisition 1,000,000$  800,000$        200,000$    

100% 80% 20%

3,460,000$  2,768,000$      692,000$    
Total 4,460,000$ 3,568,000$      892,000$    

Park Impact Fees Remaining: -$9,344

Scenario J - Improve a Neighborhood Park, and 
Diverge from CORP with new 25-Acre Neighborhood Park 

Neighborhood Park, 
Existing or Previously 

Planned 

Park Improvements 
(Pickleball, Ice Rink, etc.)

Park Type (Size) Activity
Total Project 

Cost
Impact Fee

Required 
City Match

100% 80% 20%
Neighborhood Park, 

Not Previously Planned  
(25 acres) Land Acquisition 1,000,000$  800,000$        200,000$    

100% 80% 20%

2,300,000$  1,840,000$      460,000$    
100% 62% 38%

1,500,000$  930,000$        570,000$    

Total 4,800,000$ 3,570,000$      1,230,000$ 
Park Impact Fees Remaining: -$11,344

Trails
Land Acquisition & 
Trail Improvement

Scenario I - Trails, Improve a Neighborhood Park, and 
Diverge from CORP with new 25-Acre Neighborhood Park 

Neighborhood Park, 
Existing or Previously 

Planned 

Park Improvements 
(Pickleball, Ice Rink, etc.)



 
 

Draft: July 2, 2021  13 

• New (not previously planned) Neighborhood Park – acquisition only (land bank for future 
improvement) 

• Add new facilities to existing Neighborhood Parks (new growth) 
• Neighborhood Park match requirement of $892K; smaller total match requirement due to 

higher percentage eligible for impact fees 
 

The “Do Nothing” Scenario 
If the City does not spend the funds that are set to expire at the end of 2022, it will have to 
rebate the funds with interest. This option creates many technical, legal, and logistical challenges 
of its own. For example, the City would have to determine how much needs to be rebated, what 
interest has accrued and what person or entity to send the funds to. State law has clarified that 
the funds cannot be rebated to the current owner of the dwelling unit that was charged the 
impact fee, but rather it must be provided to entity that originally paid the impact fee. In some 
cases, those firms may no longer exist or may have reorganized. The effort associated with 
properly rebating the funds would be very costly and time consuming. 
 

Staffing and Maintenance Needs 
There are many different ways to determine staffing 
and maintenance needs. As the specifics of the future 
park(s) to be acquired are yet to be determined, it is 
difficult to provide a precise  estimate. On approach 
is to consider the Parks Department budget as 
compared to number of park acres currently 
maintained by the Parks Department, and 
extrapolating the proportional budget impact created 
by a new park. Based on a five-year average of 
Parks Department budgets (2017-2021) that supports 
roughly 251 acres of parkland, the budget impact of 
a new park would $687 per acre. Accordingly, a new 
25-acre park would have an annual budget impact of 
$17,175, which includes personnel, equipment, 
contractual services, and other services. This assumes 
that in the future the Parks Department will provide a 
level of service and maintenance comparable to that 
of the past five years.  
 
If the future park were to have higher than average maintenance needs, perhaps due to 
specialized facilities or especially high level of use, this figure could be higher. This exercise is 
intended to provide an “order of magnitude” impact on the future Parks Budget, due to the high 
number factors that are still unknown or yet to be determined. 
 
  

Dept 0551 - 
Parks Budget

Park Acres 
Maintained

2017 $167,684 250.3
2018 $151,914 251.5
2019 $160,702 251.5
2020 $186,448 251.5
2021 $196,343 251.5

Average $172,618 251.3

Annual Budget per Acre $687

$17,175

Annual Budget Impact 
of a 25-acre Park:

Fig. 6: Parks Dept. Budget, 2017-2021 
 



 
 

Draft: July 2, 2021  14 

Recommendations for the Future Consideration  
• Consider updating City’s Subdivision Ordinance to include a parkland dedication ordinance, 

fee in lieu of dedication, and park improvement impact fee. Consider a policy that places 
preference on the dedication of land (rather than payment of park fees) in order to acquire 
parkland as development occurs. 

• Update the Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan, particularly to understand needs for 
specific recreational facilities within the City and to maintain eligibility for state and 
federal recreational grants. 

• Update the City’s Official Map (Chapter 58) to reserve land for future parks and 
recreation trails recommended in the Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan. 

• Considering that trail development is a priority, the City should require developers to 
dedicate trails on an outlot as development occurs or as land is platted. A comprehensive 
map of desired trails such as an Official Map will be important to achieve this. To ensure 
implementation, the City will need communicate this policy to all department heads 
involved in the development review process. 

 
Maps: Citywide Existing Park/Service Area 
 Citywide Park Service Area & Adopted Land Use Plan 
 Cityside Park Service and Environmental Constraints 
 Southwest Quadrant Environmental Constraints 
 Southwest Quadrant Environmental Constraints & Existing Land Use  

Southwest Quadrant Environmental Constraints & Adopted Land Use Plan 
 
 
 
Appendix:  

A. Franklin School District Recreational Facilities   
B. Table of Funding Resources 
C. City of Franklin Public Facilities Needs Assessment and Impact Fee Study (excerpt) 
D. City of Franklin Resolution 2016-7177, Extending Time Limit for Using Impact Fees 
E. Annotated Bibliography  

 
  



 
 

Draft: July 2, 2021  15 

Appendix A. Franklin School District Recreational Facilities  
 

Existing Facilities: 

Franklin School District Facilities are available to the community with some restrictions. They are 
not available during school hours. The following spaces are available: 

• Saber Center for the Performing Arts  
• Franklin High School Stadium  
• All Elementary Schools: multi-purpose rooms, gyms, outdoor green spaces (soccer fields, 

baseball diamonds), libraries, and classrooms after 4pm.  
• Forest Park Middle School: gym, main commons, and certain classrooms after 4pm.  
• Franklin High School: multi-purpose room, library, gym, cafeteria, and classrooms after 

4pm.   

Franklin School District generally relies on public facilities for recreational programming.  

Planned Facilities: Within the next few years, Franklin School District intends to develop more 
multiuse athletic fields west of Forest Park Middle School in order to meet the District’s growing 
need for open play spaces for soccer, etc.  

The District is also aware of the potential need to find or add tennis courts to support the District’s 
tennis program, should current arrangements that provide the District access to tennis courts be 
changed. 

  



 
 

Draft: July 2, 2021  16 

Appendix B: Table of Funding Resources 
 

Program Purpose Funding Details 

Deadline 
(Check Agency 

Guidelines) Notes 
Admin. 
Agency Contact 

Wisconsin Stewardship Programs 
Aids for the 
acquisition and 
development of 
local parks (ADLP) 

To acquire or develop 
public nature-based 
outdoor recreation areas 
and facilities. 

 50% local match per 
project.  

 

May 1  A comprehensive 
outdoor recreation plan 
is required. 

 Projects must comply 
with ADA. 

Wisconsin 
DNR 

Sara deBruijn   
Southeast Region 
(414) 897-5704 

Urban 
Greenspace 
Program (UGS) 

To acquire land to provide 
natural space within or 
near urban areas, or to 
protect scenic or ecological 
features. 

 50% local match per 
project.  

 

May 1  A comprehensive 
outdoor recreation plan 
is required. 

 Projects must comply 
with ADA. 

Wisconsin 
DNR 

Sara deBruijn   
Southeast Region 
(414) 897-5704 

Acquisition of 
Development 
Rights 

To acquire development 
rights for nature-based 
outdoor recreation areas 
and facilities. 

 50% local match per 
project.  

 

May 1  Funds are available to 
acquire development 
rights (easements) in 
areas where restrictions 
on residential, industrial, 
or commercial 
development are in 
place. 

 May include 
enhancements of nature-
based outdoor 
recreation. 

Wisconsin 
DNR 

Sara deBruijn   
Southeast Region 
(414) 897-5704 

Urban Rivers 
Grant Program 
(URGP) 

To acquire lands, or rights 
in lands, adjacent to urban 
rivers for the purpose of 
preserving or restoring 
them for economic 
revitalization or nature-
based outdoor recreation 
activities. 

 50% local match per 
project.  

 

May 1  A comprehensive 
outdoor recreation plan 
is required to 
participate. 

 Projects must comply 
with ADA. 

Wisconsin 
DNR 

Sara deBruijn   
Southeast Region 
(414) 897-5704 

Federal Programs 
Land and Water 
Conversation Fund 
(LWCF) 

To acquire or develop 
public outdoor recreation 
areas and facilities. 

 50% local match per 
project. 
 Land acquisition. 
 

May 1  A comprehensive 
outdoor recreation plan 
is required to 
participate. 

 Development of 
recreational facilities. 

Wisconsin 
DNR  

Sara deBruijn   
Southeast Region 
(414) 897-5704 

Recreational Trails 
Program (RTP) 

To provide funds for 
maintenance, development, 
rehabilitation, and 
acquisition of land for 
motorized, non-motorized, 
and diversified trails. 

 50% local match per 
project. 
 Maintenance and 

restoration of existing 
trails. 
 Development and 

rehabilitation of 
trailside and trailhead 
facilities and trail 
linkages. 
 Construction of new 

trails (with certain 
restrictions on federal 
lands). 
 Acquisition of 

easement or property 
for trails purchase. 

May 1  Funds may only be used 
on trails which have 
been identified in or 
which further a specific 
goal of a local, county 
or state trail plan 

 Eligible trails include 
water trails identified 
by WDNR 

 Funds may be used on 
trails which are 
referenced in a 
statewide 
comprehensive outdoor 
recreation plan. 

Wisconsin 
DNR  

Sara deBruijn   
Southeast Region 
(414) 897-5704 



 
 

Draft: July 2, 2021  17 

Program Purpose Funding Details 

Deadline 
(Check Agency 

Guidelines) Notes 
Admin. 
Agency Contact 

 Awards may not 
exceed $45,000 

Statewide Multi-Modal Improvement Program  
Transportation 
Alternatives 
Program (TAP) 
 

Bicycle and pedestrian 
facilities (on and off 
street); Safe Routes to 
School; safe routes for 
non-drivers; rails to trails 
conversion; construction of 
turnouts, overlooks, and 
viewing areas; historic 
preservation/rehab of 
historic transportation 
facilities 

 20% local match per 
project. 

 Federal minimum of 
$300,000 including 
design 

 January 
typically 

 Every other 
year  

 

 Federal funds 
administered through 
WisDOT  

 Incorporates three 
WisDOT multimodal 
transportation 
improvement programs: 
Safe Routes to School 
(SRTS), Transportation 
Enhancements (TE), and 
the Bicycle & Pedestrian 
facilities program 
(BPFP).  
 

WisDOT 
Regional 
Office 

Southeast Region: 
Jacob Varnes 
(262) 548-8789 

Surface 
Transportation 
Program (STP) 

Road improvement funds, 
which can be spent on a 
wide variety of projects, 
including roadway 
projects, bridges, transit 
facilities, and bicycle and 
pedestrian facilities. 

 Funded through FAST 
Act  

 80%/20%. 

 20% required match 
(funds are not 
awarded upfront but 
are reimbursed). 

 July – 6-
year project 
cycle 

 Facilities for pedestrians 
and bicycles. 

 System-wide bicycle 
planning. 

 Three sub-programs: 
Urban; Rural; Bridges 

WisDOT  Southeast Region: 
Jacob Varnes 
(262) 548-8789 

Federal Transit Administration Grants 
Capital Investment 
Grants 

Transit capital projects; 
includes intermodal 
facilities such as bicycle 
racks on buses and bicycle 
parking at transit stations; 
most funds are to be 
directed toward transit 
itself. 

 Discretionary local 
match 

Early spring  Funding for this 
program is allocated on 
a discretionary basis 
and requires a multi-
year process. 

WisDOT  Aileen Switzer 
(608)266-5791 

Congestion 
Mitigation and Air 
Quality (CMAQ) 
Improvement 
Program 

Funds projects which will 
reduce vehicle trips and 
miles; reduce emissions due 
to traffic congestion; or 
reduce the per mile rate of 
vehicle emissions. 

 20% local match per 
project (funds are not 
awarded upfront but 
are reimbursed). 

April - June  Limited to Milwaukee, 
Kenosha, Racine, 
Ozaukee, Waukesha, 
Washington, 
Sheboygan, Kewaunee, 
Manitowoc, Walworth, 
and Door Counties 

Federal 
Transit 
Authority 
 
WisDOT 
 
SEWRPC 

Southeast Region: 
Jacob Varnes 
(262) 548-8789 

Federal Highway Administration Safety Funds 
Highway Safety 
Improvement 
Program (HSIP) 

Funds safety projects at 
sites that have 
experienced a high crash 
history. Emphasis is on low-
cost options that can be 
implemented quickly, 
including intersection 
improvements. 

 10% local match per 
project. 

August  Communities must 
include 5 years of crash 
data. 

WisDOT  Southeast Region: 
Jacob Varnes 
(262) 548-8789 

  



 
 

Draft: July 2, 2021  18 

US Department of Transportation 
Rebuilding 
American 
Infrastructure with 
Sustainability and 
Equity (RAISE) 

Investment in road, rail, 
transit, and port projects. 
Funding for multi-modal, 
multi-jurisdictional projects. 

 20% local match per 
project. 

Spring/ 
Summer 

 Eligible for transit 
agencies, port 
authorities, MPOs, and 
state and local 
governments.  

US DOT (202) 366-0301 

Other Sources 
Wisconsin Main 
Street and 
Connect 
Communities 
Program 

Comprehensive downtown 
revitalization program, 
which includes streetscape 
improvements. 

 $250,000 available 
annually  

No specific 
date. 

 General downtown 
program. 
 May benefit trail 

enhancements through 
streetscaping. 

Wisconsin 
Economic 
Dev. 
Corporation 
(WEDC) 

WEDC Regional 
Office 
(608) 210-6787 

Urban Forestry 
Grants - Regular 

Assistance for tree 
maintenance, planting, and 
public awareness. 

 $1,000 to $25,000 
grants awarded with a 
50% local match. 

 Match may include in-
kind services and 
donations. 

October 1  Projects begin January 
1 of the following year 
and must be completed 
within one calendar 
year. 

Wisconsin 
DNR  
Urban 
Forestry 

Nicolle Spafford 
(715) 453-2188 
ext 174 

Urban Forestry 
Grants – Startup 

Assistance for small 
projects focused on initial 
steps in community tree 
care and management. 

 $4,000 to $50,000  
 Applicant may request 

50% advance 
payment 

Within 60 
days of a state 

emergency 
declaration 

 Projects must be 
completed within 365 
days after governor’s 
emergency declaration 

Wisconsin 
DNR  
Urban 
Forestry 

Nicolle Spafford 
(715) 453-2188 
ext 174 

Urban Forestry 
Grants – 
Catastrophic 
Storm 

Assistance with tree repair, 
removal or replacement 
within urban areas 
following a catastrophic 
storm event 

 $1,000 to $25,000 
grants awarded with a 
50% local match. 

 Match may include in-
kind services and 
donations. 

October 1  Projects begin January 
1 of the following year 
and must be completed 
within one calendar 
year. 

Wisconsin 
DNR  
Urban 
Forestry 

Nicolle Spafford 
(715) 453-2188 
ext 174 

Bicycle 
Infrastructure & 
Advocacy Grant 

Grants to build 
infrastructure that makes it 
easier for all people to 
ride bikes in their 
communities, including bike 
paths, bike lanes, trails, 
bridges, parking, and 
storage.  Can also fund 
programs and initiatives 
that advocate for bikes 
and transform streets for 
bikes. 

 Up to $10,000 or up 
to 50% of project cost 
No specific match 
amount, but leverage 
required 

April and 
October 

Applications should 
include performance 
metrics for measuring 
project success  

People for 
Bikes 

Zoe Kircos 
(702) 726-3335 

Aquatic Restoration Programs 
Surface Water 
Grant Program 

Supports education and 
planning projects as well 
as management projects to 
help communities 
understand surface water 
conditions and protect and 
improve water quality and 
aquatic habitat. 

 Funding caps and 
match requirements 
vary by project type 
 Over $6 million 

provided annually 

November 1  Some projects require 
an approved 
recommendation in a 
management plan to be 
eligible. 

Wisconsin 
DNR 

Alison Miklyuk 
(608) 264-8947 

 


	01 2021-0722 Plan Commission Agenda
	FRANKLIN CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS
	9229 W. LOOMIS ROAD, FRANKLIN, WISCONSIN

	02 2021-0708 PC Minutes - Draft
	03 Item D.1._MLG Dev. Inc._CSM
	01 07-22-21 PC-CDA Report - MLG CSM -  TKN 930-1004-000
	02 MLG Development, Inc. CSM 7-14-21 with conditions 6-10
	03 Planning Map_Combined
	Planning Map_Aeriall
	Planning Map_Locator

	04 06-22-21 Staff comments - MLG CSM - TKN 930-1004-000
	Department of City Development comments
	Engineering Department comments
	Milwaukee County Register of Deeds comments
	Fire Department comments
	Inspection Services Department comments
	Police Department comments

	05 Franklin BP Proposed CSM Lot 2 CSM 8546 Project Summary
	06 Proposed CSM Redivision Lot 2 CSM 8546 Submitted to City 7-12-21
	21-9366-CSM1
	Sheets and Views
	CSM1


	21-9366-CSM2
	Sheets and Views
	CSM2


	21-9366-CSM3
	Sheets and Views
	CSM3


	21-9366-Milwaukee 1692

	07 Franklin Lot 2 CSM 8546 Final NRPP 5-20-21
	Table of Contents
	LIST OF APPENDICES

	1.0 INTRODUCTION
	2.0 METHODS
	2.1 FEATURE DETERMINATIONS
	2.2 STEEP SLOPES
	2.3 WOODLANDS AND FORESTS
	2.4 LAKES AND PONDS
	2.5 STREAMS
	2.6 SHORE BUFFERS
	2.7 FLOODPLAIN/FLOODWAY
	2.8 WETLANDS AND SHORELAND WETLANDS
	2.9 WETLAND BUFFERS
	2.10 WETLAND SETBACKS

	3.0 RESULTS
	3.1 SITE DESCRIPTION
	3.2 STEEP SLOPES
	3.3 WOODLANDS AND FORESTS
	3.4 LAKES AND PONDS
	3.5 STREAMS
	3.6 SHORE BUFFERS
	3.7 FLOODPLAIN/FLOODWAY
	3.8 WETLANDS AND SHORELAND WETLANDS
	3.9 WETLAND BUFFERS
	3.10 WETLAND SETBACKS

	4.0 CONCLUSION
	5.0 REFERENCES
	– Figures
	Figure A. Project Location and Topography Figure B. Natural Resource Protection Plan
	NATURAL RESOURCE PROTECTION PLAN

	Site Photographs

	08 USACE JD Request Lot 2 CSM 8546 5-19-21
	09 Franklin Lot 2 CSM 8546 Artificial Wetland Exemption 6-16-21
	10 Conservation Easement Lot 2 of CSM 8546  7-9-21 (no mark)

	04 Item D.2._Kraus_Site Plan
	01 2021-07-22 PC Report - Kraus Site Plan
	02 Kraus storage building SP 7-14-21 RM
	03 Planning Map_Combined
	Planning Map_Aerial
	Planning Map_Locator

	04 Site Plan Rec 7-8-2021
	05 application
	06 plans
	07 E04016-3Kraus Wetland Sketch

	05 Item D.3._Public Hearing Notice_redesign
	01 2021-07-22 Public Notice Follow-up
	02 Exhibit 1 Plain Version
	03 Exhibit 2 Oak Creek Model
	04 Exhibit 3 Modified OC Model
	05 Exhibit 4 On-site Notice 18X24
	06 Exhibit 5 News Public Notice Idea

	06 Item D.4._Parkland Acquisition
	01 2021-07-22 PC Memo re Status Update 1
	02 Franklin Park Strategy Report Draft 1 - 7.2.21 (no highlights)




